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STYLES, Ms Jess, Director, Programs, National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation 

[by video link] 

TURNER, Ms Patricia, Chief Executive Officer, National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health 

Organisation [by video link] 

Committee met at 12:07 

CHAIR (Mr Andrews):  I declare open this hearing of the Joint Standing Committee on the National 

Disability Insurance Scheme. These are public proceedings, although the committee may determine or agree to a 

request to have evidence heard in camera. Proceedings for today are being recorded and may be broadcast, and 

media may be present. I remind all witnesses that, in giving evidence to the committee, they are protected by 

parliamentary privilege. It is unlawful for anyone to threaten or disadvantage a witness on account of evidence 

given to a committee, and such action may be treated by the Senate as contempt. It is also contempt to give false 

or misleading evidence to a committee. If a witness objects to answering a question, the witness should state the 

ground upon which the objection is taken, and the committee will determine whether it will insist on an answer, 

having regard to ground which is claimed. If the committee determines to insist on an answer, the witness may 

request that the answer be given in camera. Such a request may be made at any other time. I remind those 

contributing that you cannot divulge confidential, personal or identifying information when you speak. If you 

wish to supplement your evidence with written information, please forward it to the secretariat after the hearing. 

On the video link today, we have the first of the witnesses, Ms Turner and Ms Styles, representing the National 

Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation. Welcome, Ms Turner and Ms Styles. We have your 

submission to the committee of September 2021. I invite you to make some opening comments. 

Ms Turner:  Thank you for inviting me here today to speak with you about NDIS workforce, an absolutely 

critical issue for our people and communities, given our high rates of disability. As you are aware, the National 

Agreement on Closing the Gap demonstrates a commitment from all levels of government to changing the way 

policies and programs affecting our people are developed and delivered. Shared decision-making between 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and government, strengthening the community controlled sector, 

improving mainstream organisations, and improving collection of and access to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander data are the priority reforms that underpin the national agreement. NACCHO's submission outlines the 

need for and provides recommendations about how government can support and build a sustainable, community 

controlled NDIS workforce. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are twice as likely to experience a disability as other Australians. 

Currently, 9.6 per cent of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are NDIS participants. However, there is a 

severe underutilisation of plans by Aboriginal and Torres Strait people nationally when compared to other 

Australians. A key barrier for many of our people who are currently on NDIS plans is that they are unable to 

access culturally safe services or, in many cases, any services. I need to make this very clear: this is not just a 

remote issue but one also faced by our regional and urban communities. 

To ensure the successful uptake and utilisation of NDIS and disability services, a multidisciplinary and 

culturally competent workforce is needed to support and provide services to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

people. However, the community controlled care and health sector is facing major workforce challenges where 

demand will outstrip supply of suitably skilled and job-ready Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employees. 

This shortage will impact access to culturally appropriate, effective and efficient support and assistance needed by 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Growth needs for the entire care workforce are estimated to be in the 

order of 14.2 per cent to 2025, a requirement for an additional 249,500 workers. For Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

workers to make up a modest, proportionate component, say 3.3 per cent, of the forecast increase, an additional 

8,233 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander workers are required by 2025. 

Our established network of 143 Aboriginal community controlled health services throughout Australia, with 

their 550 clinics, are a well-established national resource that is willing to expand into NDIS services. But our 

existing comprehensive primary healthcare services are already experiencing severe workforce shortages. That's 

partly attributable to the handling of COVID in Australia, with the border closures both internationally and within 

Australia, but it's always difficult to attract people into regional and remote areas, to which I'm sure other 

witnesses will attest. 

NACCHO welcomes the opportunity to partner with government to identify a way forward so as to grow, 

develop and retain an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander integrated NDIS and primary healthcare workforce 

and to build the capacity of our Aboriginal community controlled health organisations to be sustainable NDIS 
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service providers. This is particularly important given the new reform agenda to reduce red tape through the 

regulatory alignment of the NDIS and aged-care systems. 

Disability is a key focus of the National Agreement on Closing the Gap, including the call for partnership 

actions to strengthen the Aboriginal community controlled sector in developing and delivering disability 

programs, services and policy. This presents an opportunity to work together in genuine partnership to recognise 

the needs and rights of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with a disability to access culturally safe 

services and to do something about it. I am happy to answer any questions that you may have. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Turner. I'll lead off. Do you have an estimate of what size the current workforce for 

Indigenous people is in terms of the NDIS? 

Ms Turner:  Not off the top of my head, but I do know that NACCHO members have received funding for 

single staff positions. How many positions altogether, Jess? 

Ms Styles:  Fifty-two positions. 

Ms Turner:  Fifty-two positions across our network for NDIS-ready. We also have a new liaison role to help 

people navigate the system. Those 52 positions have been funded for 12 months. But isn't there a separate NDIS-

ready workforce? 

Ms Styles:  The NDIS-ready workforce get funded—they are current workforce. It's not new staff. 

Ms Turner:  So it's only 52 in our network. 

CHAIR:  You say there's a need to attract over 8,000 additional Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people to 

the NDIS workforce. I'm just trying to get a sense of what proportion of increase that is on the existing workforce. 

Are we talking about 10 per cent or 30 per cent? A ballpark figure could be useful. 

Ms Turner:  In the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community controlled health sector at the moment, 

which deals primarily with comprehensive primary health care, we employ around 7,000 staff altogether. It's the 

intensity of the work with the disability sector and using the estimates for the total workforce, which is nearly a 

quarter of a million, 250,000. So we're just taking a modest, proportionate component of that, at 3.3 per cent, 

which indicates an additional 8,233 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander workers being required by 2025. 

CHAIR:  So that's an effective doubling of the workforce from now. 

Ms Turner:  If you take the Aboriginal community controlled health sector workforce. I don't have the 

complete figures on the NDIS support services, other than what are provided by NACCHO. I don't know. Are you 

taking evidence from the First Peoples Disability Network? 

CHAIR:  I'll check that. 

Ms Turner:  We'll see what we can find out. 

CHAIR:  Perhaps you could take that on notice, because it would be useful for us to know just what the 

proportionate increase is that we are talking about. Also, you say that that's a conservative part of the overall 

increase. Wouldn't it be the case, though, at least for remote Indigenous communities, that you can't just take that 

sort of linear approach to it, because you may need more services for fewer people, if I can put it that way, in a 

particular community than you would overall in the general population? 

Ms Turner:  That's right. These are ballpark figures, and we'll see what we can find out about the total NDIS 

workforce currently involved with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. 

CHAIR:  Yes; that could be helpful if you're able to give us some information on that. The other aspect that 

would be helpful, and, again, you may want to take this on notice, is: do you have any sense of the breakdown of 

that workforce as to numbers of, for example, allied health professionals versus the numbers of disability carers et 

cetera? I think that would be useful for our deliberations as well. 

Ms Turner:  We're still investigating that with our sector, because some allied health workers are already 

employed in our health services doing things like podiatry and other chronic disease management for our ongoing 

patients who are not necessarily in the disability category. Some are, but some aren't, which is why we're looking 

at a multiskilled workforce plan, because a lot of the services you can provide are related to health, age, disability, 

mental health and—what was the other area?—early childhood. We think, if we had training courses for people to 

do fundamental training and then specialise in certain of those components, a multidisciplinary care workforce is 

a better way for them to have a core workforce that can work across those different special needs groups. 

CHAIR:  You're talking about more flexibility with a multidisciplinary workforce. Does the existing model 

provide that flexibility or is more required? 

Ms Turner:  No. 
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CHAIR:  It doesn't? 

Ms Turner:  It doesn't provide that model, and there are legislative requirements, which is why the alignment 

of aged-care and NDIS systems and the reducing of the red tape there is the necessary step. I understand that 

that’s being looked at now within government. 

CHAIR:  My last question before I go to Senator Brown, Ms Turner, is: in relation to the adequacy of the 

workforce at the moment, if you're talking about requiring up to 8,000 additional workers over the next three 

years, does that mean that there are Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander participants in the NDIS at the present 

time who are not getting adequate services? 

Ms Turner:  I think that would be the case in the majority of instances. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Thank you, Ms Turner. To follow on from the Chair's question on the lack of 

adequate workforce, are you able to comment on how you think the current NDIS workforce pressures are now 

affecting employees? 

Ms Turner:  Do you mean with the lockdowns and COVID? 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  What I was trying to get an understanding of is: I think we can all agree that 

there's not enough NDIS people employed to deliver the supports and services, and I wondered whether any of the 

employees that are currently working in the NDIS in your areas are demonstrating some concern around the 

pressure that they're facing? 

Ms Turner:  At the moment, I think, our focus has been on getting people who are eligible to apply for the 

NDIS connected and on getting the right applications and the right plans in place for our people. That requires, in 

many cases, visits to specialists and transport and other areas, so that's where we have worked with the NDIS to 

continue that work that we started last year, with the liaison assisting us to get more plans and identification of the 

services that are available and to make sure that our people can access them. We're still in the early stages. I'll 

have a fuller picture— 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I was interested in the workload of the existing workforce and whether there 

have been any issues. 

Ms Turner:  I'll ask my colleague Jess Styles to answer that. 

Ms Styles:  In the areas where there are quite a lot of participants on NDIS plans—in our ACCHOs where 

there are already service providers—there is quite a lot of pressure on them to service the current participant load, 

particularly because we advocate that all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people receive support 

coordination funding. The ACCHOs are coordinating all the care—all the specialist needs of each individual 

person with a disability—and sometimes we hear that they can have up to 200 participants on the books. So there 

is quite a high pressure to look after all the current participants they have—plus, as Pat was saying, they also are 

now trying to find new participants and connect them to the NDIS as well. 

Ms Turner:  But that's with the 52 staff that we've got out there. That's only in the existing services where 

we've got funded positions for 12 months. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Is that 143 staff across your 550 clinics? Is that what you said? Sorry, you just 

broke up a little bit. 

Ms Turner:  No, sorry. We've got 143 member services, and they run 550 clinics for comprehensive primary 

health care across the country. The NDIS has funded us for 52 positions to assist Aboriginal people, so there are 

only 52 staff that are directly funded by the NDIS, spread across our network to work from those specific service 

regions. We don't have one in every health service. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Right. When we're talking about a requirement for nearly 250,000 additional 

workers by 2025—and you've indicated that, if you look at that as a proportion, that's over 8,200 additional 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander workers—52 doesn't stack up very well. 

Ms Turner:  No. That's right. And that 8,000 thing, as I said, was just a directly proportionate percentage of 

the 250,000 staff that are required across the whole of the NDIS sector. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Ms Turner, I notice that in the submission you don't mention the NDIS national 
workforce plan: 2021-2025. I was wondering whether the document that was released earlier—it's noted in June, 

but I think it was released in August—has much of a practical impact on the significant issues you've raised. 

Ms Turner:  We didn't think that that plan was worth it, and we've been developing our own plan with 

Minister Reynolds. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Does that fit anywhere within the national workforce plan? 
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Ms Turner:  No. It's a separate exercise that Minister Reynolds asked me to undertake, and I have. It's in her 

court at the moment. I provided her with a framework document. She was very pleased with it, and she is 

considering that, which is why I haven't provided it. What she does with it is her prerogative, but she is 

consulting. I can't provide it to you. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Are you able to give us any information? Is this just a workforce plan for 

NACCHO, or is it something broader in the Aboriginal and Torres Straight Islander area? 

Ms Turner:  It's about looking at all the care services and the care workers that are required across Aboriginal 

and Torres Straight Islander Australia and looking at how we could have a more integrated workforce—as I 

mentioned earlier, multidisciplinary and trained with the appropriate qualifications—at the regional levels. We 

have a lot of registered training organisations in our sector, and they can easily develop the programs for 

accredited training of local Aboriginal people from the regions to take part in the training and, therefore, the 

workforce. If we have local people employed, we are much more likely to retain them and have a stable 

workforce. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  The proposition that the minister has before her from NACCHO at the moment 

is a proposition that can be rolled out more broadly among Aboriginal and Torres Straight Islander people and 

communities? 

Ms Turner:  Yes. If there are other communities that are interested in having these people employed, then they 

can be employed by other communities or other organisations that are community controlled. We prefer to have 

culturally appropriate and relevant service delivery to our people. By employing trained Aboriginal staff, we can 

break down a lot of the barriers that they encounter with non-Indigenous service providers. They will feel 

culturally safe and respected. It's having the relationship with the people, building the communications and the 

trust, understanding their individual and family circumstances, and being able to respond in a holistic way to meet 

that person's and that family's needs. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  When was your organisation engaged on this piece of work that you've put 

together? 

Ms Turner:  Just this year. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Do you know the date? 

Ms Turner:  About six months ago. That was just an arrangement between Senator Reynolds and me. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  That's okay. I'm just trying to get an understanding of how it fits in with the 

national workforce plan. If you can give us a copy that's fine, but I understand if you can't give us a copy of your 

proposal at the moment. 

Ms Turner:  No, I can't because it's with Senator Reynolds for her consideration and next steps. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I understand that. Did you have any consultation on the national workforce plan? 

Ms Turner:  Yes. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Were you involved in any of the consultations on the plan aside from the 

proposal that you put to Senator Reynolds. 

Ms Styles:  Yes, NACCHO was invited to provide comments on the NDIS workforce plan through the 

Department of Social Services and the AGMO—the Advisory Group on Market Oversight for the NDIS. A lot of 

the comments we raised weren't, we felt, necessarily addressed in the final copy. We asked for some more 

directed initiatives and activities for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, and we ended up getting the last 

recommendation—recommendation 16, which specifically looked at ACCHOs. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  They talk about the $5.9 million being invested to support Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander peoples with disability as an NDIS ready project. Do you know anything of that project? 

Ms Styles:  Yes, I do. That is part of my team here at NACCHO. It's called the NDIS ready program and it is 

designed to build the capacity of our ACCHO sector to deliver NDIS services. But it is still relatively new in its 

inception and it is only $5.9 million. We do need some more funding to make it more sustainable into the future. 

To truly build the capacity of the ACCHOs, we recommend that all current and future programs are consolidated 

into the NDIS ready program to ensure consistent, trusted and culturally appropriate support for our ACCHOs as 

they build the skills, knowledge and systems into the NDIS sector. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  How much are we talking about? Your first recommendation goes to funding 

being directed to develop those flexible care workforce models. How much are we talking about there? 

Ms Styles:  I don't have a budget that I have prepared for you. 
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Ms Turner:  We don't have a budget on that. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  If you're able to provide anything on notice I'm sure the committee would 

appreciate that. We're eight years down the track and we're getting a workforce plan now. Are you sufficiently 

satisfied that under this national workforce plan we're going to reach the requirement for an additional 250,000 

workers? 

Ms Turner:  To be honest, I'm focusing— 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I think you said earlier—sorry, I keep interrupting you. I don't mean to. Are you 

focusing on your area? 

Ms Turner:  Yes. I think it would be more appropriate for other stakeholders to address the overall workforce 

projections. We're focusing on Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples because we have such a large 

proportion of our population with disability. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Are you aware of any other organisations that are putting separate proposals to 

Minister Reynolds? 

Ms Turner:  No. I think Minister Reynolds has been deeply concerned about the level of Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander engagement in the NDIS, and has been working very closely with us to try to see what 

alternative ways of working with our people would increase the value of the NDIS for Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander people throughout Australia. 

She recently did a visit up to the Kimberley. She went to Fitzroy Crossing, for example, and other locations, 

like Broome, and spoke directly to Aboriginal community controlled organisations. We've had a different model 

operating in the Kimberley, and it's a model that we want to see rolled out nationally. But that's a matter for—

Senator Reynolds was on a fact-finding mission in that regard. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Okay, thank you for that. Just as the states and territories are looking to open up 

the borders, I'm just wondering if the NDA, the DSS or the health department have been working with you to 

increase vaccinations among people in your communities and to support workers and health workers? 

Ms Styles:  Yes, we've had a few meetings with the Department of Social Services and other disability peaks 

to ensure that disability support workers and people with disability are supported in getting vaccinations. That's 

especially to make sure they're accessible as well. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  What are the main issues that you've experienced? I think it's 29 per cent who've 

had one dose over the last fortnight and that 65 per cent of NDIS workers are fully vaccinated. But what are the 

main issues? Are they lack of vaccinations or information getting out to people? What is it that needs to change? 

Ms Turner:  There's no issue now. There was several weeks ago, before the vaccine increases came—the 

available doses. At the moment there's no issue with supply; it's a matter of organising the communities. 

Increasingly, they're doing vaxathons and they also do a lot of outreach service—that includes door-to-door. 

The Aboriginal community controlled sector has been as active as anybody—they've been very active, 

actually—in community messaging, with community information sessions; running vaxathons; and running 

outreach services, including door-to-door. In places like Beagle Bay and One Arm Point, Beagle Bay is 100 per 

cent for the first dose for all the people in the community. So those peninsula communities are doing quite well. 

In the Aboriginal community controlled sector we're doing everything we can to have as high a rate of vaccination 

as possible. I've always advocated for 100 per cent vaccination before opening up, and I expect the states and the 

Commonwealth to work with our sector to ensure the highest level of vaccination possible. 

But on workforce: we haven't had any reported problems, have we, Jess? 

Ms Styles:  No, not in our workforce. 

Ms Turner:  Because they work in Aboriginal community controlled health services, all of our staff are very 

much aware of the importance of vaccination and of being fully vaccinated themselves. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Thank you. I appreciate your evidence here today. Good luck with your 

proposal. 

CHAIR:  Senator Steele-John. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Thanks to you both. It's a very great pleasure to speak with you again and to hear 

the evidence given. I'm a bit late in linking to the committee, so I apologise if anything I ask now you've already 

addressed. Feel free to tell me so and I can read the transcript. I'm particularly interested in your submission's 

observation around the need to increase funding to NACCHO so that they're able to provide correct and distinct 

supports for First Nations people in relation to accessing the NDIS. We've previously heard in other committee 
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hearings that there is a very distinct issue in terms of maintaining workforce and NDIS related workforce in 

regional, rural and remote settings because of the way in which their employment is tied to whether you get 

funding [inaudible] plan. There have been a number of suggestions on how we might solve that workforce issue 

and maintain the kind of [inaudible] in the regions without linking it to the need of a First Nations person to have 

a choice of providers, which they might otherwise have if they lived in a metro area. I'm interested in your 

thoughts on that topic. 

Ms Turner:  The feedback that we've had from our sector is that even Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

people who live in metro settings, in cities, have difficulty accessing culturally safe and respectful services. In 

terms of service provision, there has been a lot of reliance on fly-in fly-out or drive-in drive-out in rural, regional 

and remote areas, and both these options are very expensive and represent very little value for money. They may 

also, we believe, not be in the best interests of the participants. So getting a stable, trained, local or regional 

workforce will be the better option in our opinion. One thing is to create real jobs for our people, and that has 

always been a challenge, but, in the care industry, we can see a real opportunity to create more jobs for Aboriginal 

people so they can live close, within their communities, and still have employment in helping people with the 

greatest levels of need. So we think that, as to the cultural knowledge and understanding of the individuals who 

are eligible for disability services, it's much better coming from local people already than it is from people who 

have to fly in and out or drive in and out, who don't really form those relationships. Is there anything more to add 

there? 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  No. That makes sense. I've heard it before and it certainly lines up with evidence 

we've heard. The bit that I always turn over in my brain is: how do you sustain a local workforce in a geographic 

area without, for instance, saying that, if you are a disabled person in that local geographic area, you have to use 

that provider? Do you know what I mean? How would you suggest that we sustain that workforce without 

creating that block funded dynamic that we've had before? 

Ms Turner:  If we provide a more culturally appropriate and respectful service, we believe that most of our 

people would prefer to use our services, but that's not denying anybody the right to choose an alternative. It would 

be a matter of linking, say, another specialist or preferred provider by the individual. We would never trample on 

an individual's right to have a choice, but that would also depend on their plan and the logistics of access and so 

on. We're dealing in a lot of communities where the market is so thin you can hardly see it. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  It's functionally non-existent, and it's functionally not really a market. That's one 

of the tensions and the issues with terminology. If there isn't a sustained workforce, there isn't really a market, so 

there isn't really a choice or a tactical ability to exercise choice and control, potentially. Do you think that the 

government, through the NDIS or another mechanism, should provide a pool of funds to maintain a local 

workforce separate from whatever funding those providers or those support workers may receive from 

participants, so that there isn't that connection? 

Ms Turner:  Yes. I think that we have to train a multidisciplinary workforce, as I've said already. The demand 

will move over time as well. We certainly need to ramp up services for disabled people, and, therefore, have a 

trained workforce to do that. We also have needs in looking after people in the aged category, and there's support 

required for mental health. There's also early childhood development and care, to save kids being taken away 

from communities and families. There are a range of social areas, or human care services, and people can move 

between those disciplines as needs require, but they can also transfer into other fields of employment if they've 

got a decent qualification and experience behind them. We don't see it as a stagnant arrangement, although many 

of the Aboriginal health workers who have been trained in our sector have been very loyal long-term employees. 

I've started to raise the issues about having professional development opportunities for them to move into allied 

health and other health caring areas, in recognition of their skills and experience. We're always on the lookout for 

that sort of thing. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Absolutely. We're roughly 10 years into the NDIS process now, and there's been a 

lot of evidence to suggest that there have been a lot of challenges with mistakes made during the rollout of the 

NDIS more broadly. Then, when you zero in on First Nations communities, wherever they live, those sorts of 

outcomes are worse. In your experience, what are the mistakes that have been made by government and by the 

agency in the implementation of the NDIS? And what are the big bits that have been missed, particularly with 

[inaudible] workforce—but that doesn't happen in a vacuum, either, so other aspects as well. 

Ms Turner:  I think they had a very difficult job because it's an extremely complex system that they have to 

operate. But I do think they didn't come to us early enough; they didn't come to Aboriginal community controlled 

organisations early enough. And when they did come, they came with the view that we could be entrepreneurial 

and set up businesses for profit. I said very clearly to them—this was about three or four years ago when they first 
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approached us—that we are a not-for-profit organisations. We do not raise money for profit. If we make any 

money, like our Medicare income, we reinvest it in our comprehensive primary health care, and the government is 

fully aware and very supportive of that. 

We're not interested in for-profit services because we know that we're talking about non-existing markets. You 

expect us to now do it, but you're not listening to what we say. We're saying you've got to have a community 

controlled model. You could do it in partnership with our health services if you provide us with the resources to 

connect the community, to get the people enrolled, to have their plans developed properly et cetera, and if you 

ensure a proper service delivery arrangement that the client wants, the community is happy with and is able to be 

done. I would say they have only just started, in the last 12 months, listening to us on the policy front. I think 

Linda Reynolds, the new minister, has been very interested in our advice and has taken it on board, which I'm 

very happy with. 

The processes within the NDIA itself are very slow, especially in relation to grant hubs and administration. 

They take far too long to get the money and the contracts finalised. We can finalise contracts in days here, 

whereas they take months. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  When you talk about the contracting piece and the contracting challenges: are they 

in relation to ILC grant funding, or other types of grant funding or to do with payment for services to participant? 

Or all of them? 

Ms Turner:  No, in our experience, it's mainly been the contract for the community liaison staff. We've got the 

contract but we're still waiting for it—we're still waiting for the contract. We've been waiting months. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  How many jobs are hanging on the finalisation of that contract? 

Ms Styles:  That's the 52 people that we— 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Geez Louise! And just so that we know: you've indicated that you would be 

awarded that contract? 

Ms Turner:  When I met with Minister Reynolds, probably about six months ago—June. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Wow! And what's the duration of the contract? 

Ms Turner:  Twelve months. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Is it a single-year contract or a multiyear contract? 

Ms Turner:  Single year. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Wow! So, one year's funding and you're six months in and haven't actually had it 

finalised? How are you paying your workers in that gap period? 

Ms Turner:  Some staff have had to be let go, and others are using other income to support them while we're 

waiting for the money. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  That's awful. Thank you for flagging that with us. There may be capacity for us to 

write a letter and see what is going on there. I mean, it's not unusual for ILC grants to be held up for a period of 

time, even though they're now with Social Services. But for those kinds of contracts that is an unacceptable delay, 

so I apologise even though I didn't create it myself. Thanks. Back to you, Chair. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Turner and Ms Styles. Thank you for your submission to the committee and your 

ongoing assistance in our work. We appreciate you coming online today to discuss these matters with us. If there 

is any further information you can provide as a result of the questions we were asking today, can you please 

forward that to the secretariat. We appreciate that. 

Ms Turner:  We will. Thank you very much, Mr Chairman, and thank you to the committee. We appreciate 

the opportunity to give evidence. 
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BEAGLEY, Dr Leanne, Chief Executive Officer, Mental Health Australia [by video link] 

GYE, Mr Bill, Chief Executive Officer, Community Mental Health Australia [by video link] 

LOVELOCK, Mr Harry, Director, Policy and Research, Mental Health Australia [by video link] 

[13:01] 

CHAIR:  We will now turn to representatives of Mental Health Australia and Community Mental Health 

Australia. Welcome and thank you for appearing before the committee today. I invite you to make some opening 

comments. 

Dr Beagley:  Firstly I acknowledge the Ngunawal and Ngambri people as the traditional custodians of the 

lands I'm calling from today. I pay my respects to elders past and present and extend this respect to the traditional 

custodians of the lands others are joining from today. I also want to acknowledge the leadership and unique 

contribution of people with lived experience of mental ill health or caring for someone with mental ill health in 

driving mental health reforms across Australia. 

Mental Health Australia is the peak national non-government organisation representing the Australian mental 

health sector. Our members span the full range of the mental health ecosystem, including representative bodies for 

people with lived experience, health professionals' organisations and community service providers. I would really 

like to thank the committee for the invitation to speak with you today about the NDIS National Workforce Plan. 

In our original submission, Mental Health Australia, Community Mental Health Australia and the Mental Illness 

Fellowship of Australia outlined the specific skills required to deliver best-practice recovery oriented 

psychosocial disability services and the need to grow this workforce to meet the needs of NDIS participants with 

psychosocial disability. While we welcome the development of the NDIS National Workforce Plan, it does not 

address the fundamental barriers to developing this particular workforce. 

In order to address workforce needs, we need to understand the workforce we currently have. However, there is 

no national dataset measuring the non-government mental health workforce delivering psychosocial support 

services. Governments must address this as a matter of priority. This data gap was raised by the Productivity 

Commission inquiry into mental health, and it is acknowledged in the committee's interim report. A national 

database for the non-government mental health and psychosocial workforce, together with NDIS Quality and 

Safeguards Commission's workforce data, will allow us to establish a baseline picture of the current NDIS 

psychosocial disability workforce. 

Secondly, as discussed by the committee in the committee's interim report, one of the most fundamental drivers 

of workforce development is pay and conditions. Currently, the NDIS pricing model doesn't support attraction 

and retention of people with the necessary skills and experience to deliver quality psychosocial care, nor does it 

support sufficient training and development. However, there's little in the NDIS National Workforce Plan that 

acknowledges this fundamental issue. Under initiative 11 in the plan, the government promises to continue to 

improve the NDIS pricing approaches to ensure effective operation of the market. Mental Health Australia urges 

the government to consider pricing approaches under this initiative which enable operation of an appropriately 

skilled and trained workforce, and alternative models of service delivery for psychosocial needs. 

The NDIS National Workforce Plan does, however, include some welcome actions: initiatives to improve 

broader understanding of the care and support sector are positive, as are measures to align provider regulation and 

worker screening. Moves to acknowledge the importance of the alignment of values in recruiting new workers 

and establishing better recognition of credentials are very good in principle, but they're insufficient without 

accompanying support for training and development. 

Beyond filling the gaps in the current system, we want to strive continually for innovation and improvements 

in psychosocial service delivery. Mental Health Australia has called for the establishment of a national centre for 

workforce development to drive the change needed to meet the huge challenges in delivering psychosocial 

disability support and, of course, mental health care more broadly. Further, the growth of lived experience, or a 

peer workforce, is an exciting and essential aspect of psychosocial workforce development. Mental Health 

Australia welcomes initial government support for lived experience workforce development in the 2021-22 

budget and encourages the government to further implement the recommendation of the Productivity Commission 

to establish a professional association for peer workers to support the ongoing professional development of this 

unique workforce. 

These requirements to develop the NDIS psychosocial workforce are direct investments in supporting the 

recovery journeys of participants in psychosocial support [inaudible] their quality of life and for the [inaudible] to 

live contributing lives. Thank you very much. 
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CHAIR:  Mr Gye, did you want to make some opening comments? 

Mr Gye:  Yes, thank you, I will very briefly. First of all, I also acknowledge that I am on the lands of the 

Kuringgai people in Sydney's northern beaches, and I pay my respects to their elders, past and present. I also 

acknowledge and support everything that Leanne has just said. Community Mental Health Australia works very 

closely with Mental Health Australia, which has the broad overview of mental health services across Australia. 

Our particular subfocus is on shifting the centre of gravity of mental health services back out into the community 

and also, too, with the community sector broadly understood as a very viable delivery arm for services—

particularly, in this case, mental health and NDIS services. 

My brief comment would just be to note what I see as the underlying driver of the points that we're making 

particularly in the submission and which Leanne has just articulated: there's an underestimation of the potential 

capacity of people with disabilities implicit in the current program. What I mean by that is that without a proper 

appreciation of the capacity of people to recover, to build their capacity and to become independent contributing 

members of society then the whole process is designed around care, support, long-term maintenance and a 

workforce that focuses on that. What's needed to resolve the issues of long-term skills sustainability and the 

development and recovery of people—particularly with psychosocial disabilities in the NDIS—and the quality of 

the workforce to make this an attractive, exciting and highly skilled area, is the broader appreciation and the 

foundational vision that people can recover significantly. They can build capacity and they can build their ability 

to become independent contributing members of society. As I've said before—and I'm sure senators will 

appreciate this particular sentiment—in the NDIS we have an almost global opportunity to make this a reality. On 

scale, it is the largest experiment being done on the planet in terms of a serious level of investment in people with 

disability. We almost have an obligation, not only to the Australian taxpayers but to others in the world, to really 

leverage this quantum of investment to realise that particular vision. At the moment we are less than what we can 

be, and we need to address that, and many of the issues there we're talking about fall from that central problem. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. In terms of the workforce plan that's being develop, were your organisations involved or 

consulted about the plan and its drafting? 

Dr Beagley:  Harry, would you like to answer that question? 

Mr Lovelock:  To be honest, I can't remember. It's a terrible thing to say. It certainly stood out in my mind as 

something we put a great deal of effort into putting in a submission, in the same way we've done for this inquiry. I 

have to be honest and say I can't remember. 

Dr Beagley:  Having said that, we have a really strong and important consultative relationship with the 

psychosocial leadership inside of the NDIA, which we find to be a really important opportunity to influence the 

thinking around the development of psychosocial services and recovery orientated services. So we've probably 

had lots of conversations, in fact, but perhaps not directly. 

CHAIR:  In your submission you point out the workforce plan does not significantly address workforce data 

and the pricing issues. I want to ask about the data at this stage. In your view, what types of data need to be 

collected to provide meaningful information in this regard? 

Dr Beagley:  We think that Bill is the best on this data issue, so we'll hand to him. 

Mr Gye:  This is a very key issue not only within the NDIS but more broadly in mental health services across 

Australia. If you look up the data from the traditional sources, the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, the 

Australian National Mental Health Service Planning Framework, you'll find there is an incredible paucity of data 

in terms of organisations out there, by their hundreds, their workforce, the skills of the workforce and what they 

are doing. That data doesn't exist. This was one of the key recommendations of the Productivity Commission—

that planners cannot do decent planning unless they have that particular dataset available to them. In the similar 

process, the national mental health workforce planning process that's being conducted at the moment, that is again 

being noted. You cannot do proper planning unless you know where you are. Right now you may have a vision of 

where you want to be, but, unless you have a vision of where you are at and what the numbers are, you can't plan 

a trajectory to fill the gap between where you are now and where you want to be. 

There's a long, sad story about why this has actually failed. A number of people have been trying to get it up 

over the last decade or more. If we had enough time in this inquiry, we could go through the various failures that 

have resulted in this lack of data. I do put the blame, though, particularly on the funding commissioning bodies 

for not insisting on a centralised process of data collection both at the Commonwealth and at the state and 

territory levels over the last 15 to 20 years. One of the great problems here is that we're going to have to reinvent 

history. For many of the programs and projects that are being conducted that have been highly successful, that 

have great outcomes, we don't have evidence of their effectiveness, so we are always working from the vacuum. 
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So we need to rectify the situation; we need to start collecting that data: what organisations are out there. what is 

their workforce, what are the skills of the workforce, what services they are providing and what outcomes they are 

achieving. 

It's a minimum dataset, and there is some data being collected by an organisation; some data is being collected 

by PHNs variously but not well reported. There has been some data collected by the NDIS, but it's not 

coordinated or well reported, and it needs to be shaped by a common national dataset in order to get proper data 

integration so national planners can really get a good line of sight on where we are and therefore where we need 

to go to get where we want to be. 

CHAIR:  Is there a model for the collection of the data in other realms of health and welfare—for example, in 

primary care or elsewhere? 

Mr Gye:  Yes, absolutely. The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare does an excellent job in a number of 

those areas. Indeed, there is a similar minimum dataset that was developed a decade ago. It was implemented a 

little bit in Western Australia through their mental health commission. It was incorporated in the PHN minimum 

dataset for the psychosocial support measure that they have at the moment. But it has not been consistently 

collected and it's 12 years old and needs an update and a review to ensure that particular dataset is current. It was 

modelled on the dataset being collected by public health authorities through, particularly, the state health 

departments. 

CHAIR:  Mr Gye, you're welcome to take this on notice. Would you be able to provide an outline to 

committee of what you would regard as the minimum dataset that is required? 

Mr Gye:  Yes, I'd be happy to do that. I think that is a project we would probably need a little bit of resources 

for. Community Mental Health Australia together with some other organisations did do the initial development of 

the minimum dataset back in, maybe, 2009. That document still exists. It was a well put together document. I'm 

happy to do an update of that minimum dataset and provide that to those who need it, but it will need a bit of 

resourcing to engage with the level of consultancy we'd need to put it together properly. 

CHAIR:  Even if you could provide us with the 2009 document. It's not our task to design the system as such, 

but it is our task to look at where there are deficiencies and make recommendations as to how they might be 

addressed, rather than trying to address them ourselves. So anything you can provide, without asking you to do 

too much that already exists, would be very useful. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I want to touch on your recommendation No. 2 around the pricing of supports. 

What is the ultimate consequence of not including detail on pricing in the workforce plan? I'm wondering whether 

the report just provides some neat goals without acknowledging the resources and costs involved in delivering the 

plan. 

Dr Beagley:  I might start and then ask Harry to respond. The workforce plan is a high-level overarching plan 

with some good proposals, and, really, the next stage is to work with the sector, providers and people's lived 

experience to unpack how to achieve the goals that are set there. We are particularly interested in psychosocial 

services and the complexity that comes from working with people with psychosocial illnesses, both through the 

NDIS and independently through state and federally funded programs. Harry, do you want to answer that question 

more specifically for the Senator? 

Mr Lovelock:  Yes, thanks. It's a bit similar to the issue that Pat Turner was talking about before, about 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders' inclusion into the scheme. Psychosocial disability was a late inclusion. It's 

always been on the outside of thinking around how it's to be appropriately supported, and the workforce is an 

important component of that. The pricing aspects we have written in multiple submissions were on the impacts of 

that on the workforce.  

At the moment, it's almost like we're getting a two-tiered workforce: those who are working in the NDIA who 

are far more transient, short-term contracts and lower paid, compared with the other psychosocial disability 

workforce sector. I don't think it's good to separate the two out. The skills and the experience is something that we 

are concerned is being lost in the NDIS sector, because it isn't included in the NDIS pricing at all.  

The need for staff supervision, a focus on recovery, the understanding of trauma are all things that are quite 

specific to—trauma is specific to psychosocial but it's certainly not a large component of it. We think it's 

important for staff to understand and to be able to deliver upon it. Unless there's sufficient pricing in there to 

enable organisations to undertake continual professional development and supervision, we think that's a risk for 

the quality and safety of clients using the NDIS service. Bill might have a view on it as well. 

Mr Gye:  Thank you, Harry, and I certainly agree with the points just being made here. I think—maybe; I am 

speculating—there was a reluctance to include pricing in the discussion of the workforce there, because the issue 
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of scheme sustainability is something that people are nervous about. And anything that might be thought to be 

pushing up prices might have been an area that planners didn't want to go, but maybe I'm being unfair in my 

hypothesis there. But I think the key point is that, as we said before, in order to get the quality of outcome for the 

people that we're assisting, there is a competency and skill level required. That comes with a cost. As we're 

aware—and as the chair well knows from his time in employment and workplace relations—where we are with 

the labour force in Australia right now is that there are many industries competing for labour, and we need to be 

competitive. In reality, what's happening, if you look empirically, is that the workforce is significantly casualised 

and part-time—there's an incredible turnover there. They're all symptoms of a not very healthy workforce, 

particularly when we're wanting to move into the opposite direction of permanency and competency. And, in the 

long term, if we can invest in competency and permanency, it will pay it back in terms of the development of 

independence and therefore, longer term, the reduction in packages needed to maintain people for lifetimes in 

terms of paying for cleaning, paying for gardening, paying for takeaway foods—all of those core supports that 

take up the majority of people's budgets at the moment. Let's develop a workforce that can teach people to fish, 

rather than provide a fish. But that comes at a cost, and there needs to be some bravery in working backwards 

from those outcomes to the cost and to the pricing, to be able to track the workforce and develop the workforce 

for those competencies. So price is essential. It's a transactional model, and I don't suspect that we'll move far 

away from that. 

What's also important is the point that Pat Turner made, too: there's a great moral motivation in many 

organisations and in people to make this actually work. That is the key driver. But, of course, there's the practical 

reality still of needing to resource those properly so they actually work, and particularly in regional and rural 

areas where it's even harder to get that balance right. So price is a key issue. We have to go there and we have to 

talk about it. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I agree with you: pricing is essential, as you've indicated. And the minister has 

said that it's critical for every provider across the sector to also focus on their own strategies and plans to improve 

workforce attraction, retention and development, as well as enhancing leadership capability and fostering 

innovation and best practice in the workforce. Isn't that difficult to implement when the pricing is missing from 

their overall plan? 

Dr Beagley:  Yes, I think you're right. The organisations who are delivering psychosocial care under the NDIS 

also do need to do some thinking about how to describe the work they're doing and to value and capture it through 

the data gathering that we spoke about before, so that we better understand. I think it does mean that the 

organisations themselves need to be part of that solution, but they all need time and support to do so, and 

leadership, and a framework within which to do so. With the current situation, our members would be saying that 

the pricing means that developing quality and safety and innovation and the development of their workforce is 

really beyond them. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  What I'm getting to be a bit concerned about is who is actually being consulted 

on this plan, and whether it's that people have supported it in principle. But what are the next steps around 

implementation? I don't know how broad the consultation was. The minister has said that they're going to draw on 

experiences of peak bodies, participants and carers around implementing the plan. But have you been contacted 

since the release of the National Workforce Plan? We are actually eight years on, and the minister says we need 

an additional $83,000 by 2024. We've got this plan, and I'm just concerned about whether it's going to be 

developed in a vacuum or whether people with the expertise and the lived experience are going to be involved in 

the implementation to achieve these goals. 

Dr Beagley:  We would certainly expect to be involved. We're looking forward to it. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Has anyone reached out to you now, though? 

Dr Beagley:  Not formally. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Key organisations? 

Mr Lovelock:  We haven't been approached formally to discuss that. But we do have regular contact with the 

NDIA through a special adviser and other committees. With the workforce plan, when I was asked by the chair 

about whether we'd submitted, I don't think there was a formal consultation that we could find. We certainly 

couldn't see any notification that we'd received, which was strange in itself. We're always ready to work with the 

NDIA to help inform what they're doing. The problem seems to be somewhat around trying to fit a square peg 

into a round hole, because the NDIS model, which is set up around a whole range of principles in dealing with 

issues specific to the NDIS, sometimes doesn't work well with other sector providers. We certainly know that 

there are many current providers in the psychosocial disability space who have real concerns about duty of care, 
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continuing to provide services and costs under the current model. Even though there have been those strong 

arguments around its imperfections, there has been little movement in relation to changing that. That goes to the 

size and scope of the work the NDIA does, which is very hard because of the implications it has. The inability to 

be flexible can create other barriers and problems, and I think that pricing is one of them. Bill, you might have 

some other ideas. 

Mr Gye:  Certainly, I would support that there are a number of people in the NDIS who do engage well, as 

Leanne said. There are some people working very hard, and we certainly wouldn't want to underestimate or not 

acknowledge their effort. But I do think the NDIS is trying at the moment to develop its processes for consultation 

following particularly the difficulties they had with the attempted introduction of the independent functional 

assessments. There was a realisation that the processes for what is now termed co-design needed to be improved 

significantly, and there is a sincere and strong effort to try to improve those consultation processes. In terms of 

both this issue of the NDIS workforce and other areas such as the work done prior to the Tune review, there have 

been varying levels of adequacy in the consultation process. Some of them are very good. Some of them, as my 

teacher used to say, could do better. 

Dr Beagley:  May I also add that there is a National Mental Health Workforce Strategy underway, triggered by 

Minister Hunt as part of mental health reform, and this ought to be a really important part of that. We are being 

consulted. Bill and I are on that task force. So there is an opportunity to work with some of the issues that we've 

already outlined in our submission and opening statements about the peer workforce and the role of psychosocial 

support in the community. There is an opportunity for us to drive some of that interface between the NDIS and 

health around this particular workforce, which covers both. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  We are eight years on, and there is a lot of work to do. I think we all would 

appreciate the need to draw on the experience of those who are working in the disability sector and those with 

lived experience. So I just hope that, at some point, we get an understanding of the road forward around the 

implementation of the initiatives that are contained in this document. I thank you for your evidence today. 

CHAIR:  Senator Steele-John. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Thanks for the evidence you've given so far, folks. You've answered some of the 

key questions that I had around data collection. I want to take you to the real, critical issue you've identified 

already in your opening remarks around [inaudible] workforce and what you'd like to see the NDIS do differently 

to encourage the development and support the sustainment of a peer workforce. 

Dr Beagley:  That's a really exciting question. It's such an important part of what we see as a developing 

workforce. Thank you for raising it. We have endorsed the Productivity Commission's recommendations around 

the development of an association that would help to define the boundaries and the expertise of peer workers and 

acknowledge that the government has funded some initial programs to improve the training and development of 

that group, and it is such an important group. So we are very keen to see that develop. Bill might have something 

he wants to add there, and Harry as well. 

Mr Gye:  Yes. Thanks, Leanne, and thanks, Senator. Yes, indeed, this is a key part of the success of the whole 

initiative of improving the workforce and ultimately improving the outcomes as well. The peer workforce is a key 

to the success of the NDIS. I also think, though, that we need to continue to evolve what we see as how the peer 

workforce itself needs to develop. As one of the key people with lived experience themselves commented 

recently, it's the combination of lived and learned experience together that really makes a great worker. As to this 

work, it's greatly helped by the fact that if you have somebody who has been through what you have been 

through, then they bring that incredible implicit understanding, because much of this work is not like doing 

accounting; it's more like learning to surf or to ride a bike. It's all procedural knowledge; it's implicit, intuitive and 

from the heart. But, at the same time, unless you've actually got good frames of reference and you've been 

through some minimum training and qualifications to expand your conceptual knowledge of what you're doing, 

you tend to often just repeat your own personal experience and think that's the path for everybody. So it's the 

combination of learned and lived experience and using that to develop a very powerful workforce through the 

peer workforce. The obvious natural cycle here is of people coming from the NDIS and eventually becoming peer 

workers themselves and creating a benign cycle of positive spiral development moving upwards. It's an obvious 

way to go, in my opinion. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  I totally agree that's the kind of almost perpetual-motion machine that it would be 

ideal to support the creation of. Just so that I understand correctly: there is work happening at the moment to 

create a kind of nationally consistent training and accreditation pathway for peer workers—was that what you 

were articulating there? 
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Dr Beagley:  I'll throw to Harry in one second, but there are some guidelines that are being developed by the 

National Mental Health Commission that we are waiting to see. There is budget allocation for access to 

scholarships for peer worker development, but there was a recommendation that has not been yet acted on by 

government around a peer worker association that would help to define the role and ensure that there was some 

adequate credentialling or appropriate setting of the level of skill and development needed to take on that role, as 

well as support, supervision and a framework around people who might be doing this kind of work to support 

them. Harry, did you— 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  So that would be a nationally funded peak body? 

Dr Beagley:  The Productivity Commission called for a peak body for consumers and a peak body for carers, 

which may have a peer work component to it, but that was a separate recommendation which has not yet been 

developed. The peer worker association was a separate recommendation, and that hasn't yet been responded to.  

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Just so I understand correctly, that would be set up as a national peak body funded 

by the federal government in a similar way that AFDO and PWDA are funded as peak representative bodies. 

Actually, DANA is probably a better example, as the nationally funded peak body for disability advocacy. That 

makes sense to me. In terms of the way that the NDIS is structured and the impact that it has on the workforce, 

are there any special elements to the NDIS that impede the effective development of a peer workforce currently? 

Dr Beagley:  I think the pricing is the best answer to that, but I'm going to throw to Harry, as I said before, 

because he's been thinking about this for a while. 

Mr Lovelock:  Firstly I want to comment that a peer workforce has been on the agenda for the last 10 years 

and I think there's a fair bit of pent-up unhappiness about the fact that it's taken so long to progress. It is good that 

it is on the agenda in a number of areas, including the mental health workforce strategy, which is fantastic, but 

getting it operational is the key. One more thing while I've got the opportunity: I want to respond to the chair's 

earlier question. DSS did undertake a survey on the national workforce plan back in 2020, so quite a while ago.  

Dr Beagley:  In terms of impediments that you asked for, and the NDIA, I mentioned that I thought pricing 

was a key impediment. I think it's worth checking with Bill about whether there's anything that he thinks is an 

impediment in the NDIA model as well. 

Mr Gye:  I think that, as always, there's still a long-term cultural change that we're involved in. Recognising 

this as a key component of the workforce is still not out there as much as it should be, so there's a long-term 

cultural change. Certainly there's a resourcing component in that there's a cost in training and developing people 

that's not factored into the current pricing. At the moment the dollars are all focused on one hour of delivery or X 

service. Within that, if you're going to factor in the time that's involved in recruiting, developing, training and 

supporting people in the delivery of their services, there is a cost involved in that. This is seen not only, as I noted 

before, in the 'gigification' of the workforce that's out there right now. You can see it in organisations, and it's on 

the record, with large organisations like Neami, one high-quality provider, abandoning the NDIS because it's just 

not viable. They put their Me Well service, with a large number of skilled employees, up for sale. Not one 

purchaser in Australia wanted to take that up. You can't make the dollars work right now if you want to retain a 

quality permanent workforce, which is why the smaller cowboy organisations with their casualisation of the 

workforce look great and flexible and trendy, but really it's not where we want to go long term for a sustainable, 

quality workforce. It's a complement to and part of the answer, but it's not where we're at. The peer workforce 

needs that level of security, reliability, development and investment. This worries people who worry about the 

cost increasing there, but my key point, from the very beginning, is that if you invest in recovery and capacity 

development the long-term result is a payback in scheme sustainability. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Absolutely. You're very right, Mr Lovelock, to say that developing a peer 

workforce, and the value of peer workers, has been on the agenda for a good decade or more. I remember going to 

mental health conferences way back before I was an MP, in 2013, where that was the new thing we were all 

talking about: peer workers. There are a number of factors that can collude to prevent an idea becoming a reality. 

I'm interested to know, from your perspective, what the barriers have been in getting the very talked about 

benefits, the small pilot projects that even back then had shown how successful this was. What's been the barrier, 

beyond pricing? That's certainly an element but there can often be other cultural push-back factors, institutional 

resistances, that prevent those kinds of ideas maturing. What would you say they are? 

Dr Beagley:  I'll start. I think there needs to be a recognition that peer workers are a valued and equal member 

of a multidisciplinary team and sit alongside allied health and medical staff, if needed, around a particular person 

and they have a valid place there. That's yet to be endemic in the system. I also think that there hasn't been until 
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recently—you might be interested in this, Senator—a particular psychosocial participant consumer group advising 

and talking through some of the issues for them at a leadership level. We now have that.  

Mental Health Australia hosts a national consumer and carer forum, which has a working group around 

psychosocial disabilities that's funded through funding from AFDO. There's an opportunity for them to be at the 

table and arguing right back at policy and with some of this broader level consultation with the minister and with 

the NDIA. It has taken a while to get consumer leaders to that table, and I think that's made a huge difference. 

What do you think, Harry and Bill? 

Mr Lovelock:  I think there are some traditional barriers in the workforce. Senator, you'd be aware of some of 

these things, well and truly. There's a bit of a patriarchal attitude, certainly in the medical profession, around 

others coming in to work in that space. That applies across allied health professions as well, for that matter. The 

peer workforce—it's very hard to shift the traditional models of care, because of the existing professions and the 

power that they have around decision-making within the existing system. It's very hard to make those changes, 

from the day they're brought onboard, and it takes a long time to do that. Ten years is probably enough. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Yes, it is. Could you provide us with any good examples, state case studies—it 

would be useful for our report, I think—of the success of peer workforces, for us to flesh out the examples here? I 

know there are many and there is a lot of evidence saying that this works, but your key examples, your key case 

studies, would be really useful to us. 

Mr Gye:  We can absolutely do that, but it does connect us back to our original point in terms of the data issue 

here. One of the things we don't have is a clear record of the development of the peer workforce over the last 15 

years. From my own experience though—this is one that some people would want to see evidence for, but I am 

very confident of this—the major driver of the peer workforce has been the community NGO network. This is 

particularly—I shouldn't talk about the war—the wonderful mental health programs that were developed in the 

Howard government era. The chair may well remember these: the $1.8 billion that created the personal helpers 

and mentors and support with day-to-day living programs and, eventually, Partners in Recovery. They were 

wonderful programs. They were a great channel through which the peer workforce was developed and provided 

the initiative.  

The tragedy is, we didn't have the data on those programs so weren't sure what they did—so we cashed them 

out into the NDIS, which was a big mistake, in my view, and we also lost the record of what happened in terms of 

the workforce, particularly the peer workforce, and its development. I still think that we will provide this data if 

we can. It's particularly the NGO sector or the community managed sector that's the main one to channel, because 

the culture is aligned more between the engagement of people with lived experience in the same tent, as it were. 

It's a fellowship. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Even if it's not specific data, could you provide just a couple of case studies that 

you often point to in making the case for the workforce, to illustrate your thoughts and key points? Thank you so 

much. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much for your submission, and thank you for joining us today to discuss it with us. 

If there is any more information you can provide, could you forward it to the secretariat. We'd appreciate that very 

much. Thank you very much again for your participation in this and indeed other inquiries of this committee. 

Proceedings suspended from 13:45 to 14:01 
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BIGBY, Professor Christine, Director, Living with Disability Research Centre, LaTrobe University [by 

video link] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Thank you for appearing before the committee today. We have your supplementary 

submission. Are there some opening comments you'd like to make? 

Prof. Bigby:  Yes. Thank you for the opportunity. I should be clear that I'm speaking as an academic who has 

researched the skills that disability support workers need and those of frontline managers to deliver quality of 

support to people with intellectual disabilities to enable participation, choice and control. We've developed a lot of 

evidence-based training from that research, and we also run postgraduate courses in disability practice for allied 

health and other professionals. 

One of the important things I'd like to say is that we shouldn't lose sight that the most effective way to 

safeguard people with disabilities from abuse is to ensure high-quality support practice, all day, every day. This 

requires regular supervision and other types of support from frontline practice leaders. You can't separate quality 

and safeguarding from good practice. One of the things I wanted to say about the workforce plan is that, overall, 

it's a really good way forward but it tends to have a fairly inconsistent recognition of the role of higher and further 

education in training and furthering strategies for improving the quality of the workforce. There's an increasingly 

confusing array of state and federal bodies in the training space. There's very little evidence and very little 

connection of those bodies with each other but also to higher education, which actually creates a lot of that 

evidence and delivers undergraduate and postgraduate courses, as well as developing training. It seems that higher 

education is missed in many ways. 

There also needs to be coordination, collaboration, consistency and uniformity if we're going to develop and 

promote quality training and things like microcredentials. There needs to be attention to cost training. At the 

moment there is quite a lot of free training out there, but if we're going to start to require staff to develop training 

then there needs to be assessments and evidence that people haven't just dipped in and out of training but have 

actually engaged with it and completed assessment tasks. That will involve costs to providers and also to 

disability support workers. We need to try and have some incentives for employers, particularly large disability 

support organisations, to hire trained workers. At the moment there are no incentives and, as I said, there are a lot 

of overlapping bodies in this space at the moment.  

One of the things I think is most important is the recognition, which the workforce plan has, of the need for 

supervision and training. There are a couple of throwaway lines in there that suggest that employers lack time and 

resources for good supervision. I think we need to address those issues of time and resources. The capability plan 

sets out quite well the importance of teamwork and organisational support and leadership. Unfortunately, at the 

moment the NDIS, which is the main funder to disability support services, doesn't recognise those things. What 

we've got is evidence that suggests we need these things. They're beginning to appear in the workforce plan but 

they're not being well funded and well recognised by the main funder in this space, which is making it very 

difficult for organisations to deliver those things. 

Finally, I think the NDIS worker capability framework is a very welcome piece of work and I think it can be 

used in the future to map training and be a sort of base for training that's developed. But I would note that it's 

fairly underdeveloped, particularly in the space around providing everyday support for people with intellectual 

disabilities who live in group homes and who live in other forms of supported accommodation. It addresses 

supporting community participation, but it doesn't address supporting people to be engaged in their own homes. 

There's a piece missing, which is the significance of active support, which is the core evidence-based practice that 

should be used by support workers supporting people with intellectual disabilities. It's also the base of positive 

behaviour support. There seems to be a lot of focus on supporting people who have challenging behaviours but 

very little on the practice that underpins positive behaviour support—and the practice that actually, in many 

senses, reduces people's challenging behaviour, if you have good active support practice all day, every day. So I 

think there are a few gaps in that worker capacity framework. But I think it's certainly a very important way 

forward. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Professor. I was intrigued by the statements in your submission about the overlap 

between the aged-care sector and the disability sector, and you say: 

It is somewhat worrying, therefore, that the Workforce plan appears to be favouring a common workforce and training 

between these sectors.  

Prior to that you said: 

The data in the Workforce plan provides a clear indication that the majority of NDIS providers do not work in other sectors 

such as aged care. 
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I was wondering if you could elaborate on that and what the data does show, because I suspect it's a common 

perception that there is overlap between the two. 

Prof. Bigby:  Yes. If I'm reading that data correctly, it looks to me like there are quite a lot of aged-care 

providers who also work in disability but there are not so many disability providers who also work in aged care. 

So most disability support providers are just working in disability support. The figures are there in that plan.  

There's a fundamental difference between supporting people with disabilities and supporting people, for 

example, who have dementia, who are the dominant group of people who live in residential aged-care services. 

And you're not providing for people with intellectual disabilities. The aim isn't just to provide personal care. It's 

not just about attendant care for that group of people. It's about supporting people to be engaged in their own lives 

and to make choices and to be included in the community. The way you do that is by providing the right amount 

of support to enable people to be engaged, whether that's hand-over-hand assistance or whether it's prompting 

them to be engaged. That type of support doesn't work well for people with dementia. For people with dementia, 

really, the focus is on caring, personal care, and on ensuring dignity and respect for those people. A different 

paradigm should be happening in the disability sector compared to the aged-care sector. The disability sector has 

led the way. In some cases, the aged-care sector is following the disability sector, beginning to talk about active 

service and trying to engage people, particularly older people, who are living in their own homes, much more 

actively in doing things with people, rather than simply for people, which has been the dominant paradigm in 

residential aged care. They're at very different places of the development of rights and good support practice. I 

should also say, disability nursing isn't the dominant profession and shouldn't be whereas it should be for people 

with very high medical needs who are ageing. Does that answer? 

CHAIR:  Do you think though that difference will continue? Because this will have significant implications 

for probably the size and also the composition of the workforce in each sector. 

Prof. Bigby:  Yes. Absolutely. Both sectors are growing. They need to be clear about what their similarities 

and what their differences are. If you think too about choice and control, which is central at the moment to 

disability policy, the growth of supported decision-making programs, for example, is taking off in the disability 

sector to support people to be able to express their preferences and to follow those preferences through. In the 

aged-care sector, we're seeing less focus on supported decision-making, more focus on shared decision-making 

and a much stronger involvement of people's families. What we see is people with declining capacity but family 

members or other informal contacts who have known the person for all of their lives and have a very good sense 

of what that person might prefer. Whereas, for people with intellectual disabilities, their capacity tends to stay 

similar and they don't necessarily have people who have known them for all of their lives, so things like support 

in decision-making are quite different for those two groups of people. If you treat everybody the same then you're 

not going to develop the full potential, particularly of people with intellectual disabilities. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Thank you for appearing today. Were you consulted on the formulation of the 

workforce plan? 

Prof. Bigby:  No, other than talking to the committee. I guess what I said to the committee in my submission is 

public. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Do you mean this committee? 

Prof. Bigby:  Yes. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Which committee do you mean? 

Prof. Bigby:  I meant your committee. I wasn't consulted in any other way nor was I consulted about the NDIS 

capability framework, I should say. I guess it goes to the fact higher education does tend to get missed out in these 

consultations. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Yes. So far I haven't found anyone who has been. I haven't asked that many, but 

so far no-one has indicated they've been consulted on the formulation of the plan. How has it been communicated 

to you? Has that just been through the general release by the minister? 

Prof. Bigby:  I found it basically because I'm interested and I follow it. It hasn't been communicated 

particularly widely, I don't think. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I'll come back to that when I talk to the department. You've indicated in your 

submission the lack of evaluation of previous initiatives in the workforce plan. Do you have a view about 

measures such as the boosting the local workforce fund? Have they been effective, in your view? 

Prof. Bigby:  I think it's very hard to tell, and that's sort of my problem, as a researcher. There's absolutely no 

evidence out there about whether they've been effective or not. It seems to be taken for granted that they're 
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working and therefore we should continue with them. I've noticed that over the last 10 years there have been a 

whole range of initiatives and money spent on consultants to develop workforce plans and to develop this and 

that, and they just get lost. They're never evaluated, and we move onto the next thing. It seems such a waste that 

we're not learning from some of those things that have been implemented to find out what is successful and what 

is not successful. I guess my experience of the boosting local workforce is that they've employed people in local 

areas to talk and to build groups of local disability service providers and try to link them into education and 

training, but it feels very ad hoc, depending on the person and their connections. I'm not sure. It's hard to 

comment on a model when there is no evidence about how effective it's been, but anecdotally I would suggest it 

hasn't been particularly effective. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I think the frustration that we're not able to see evaluations is shared by many 

people who have an interest in this area. If evaluations are done, which I assume they must be, they're not public 

evaluations we can look at and then do the work that we need to do. You talked with the chair about a common 

workforce. I understand your concern about it and the different skillsets that are required, but what do you think is 

the reason that a common workforce seems to be favoured? Do you think it's a pricing issue? I wonder whether 

it's a pricing issue or an ability to move people around, or both. 

Prof. Bigby:  If I was a cynic I would say it feels like a race to the bottom. It becomes a focus on caring for 

people, which is really, really important in aged care, and it sort of goes to the centre of everything being focused 

on attendant care and personal care rather than on what is needed, particularly for people with intellectual 

disabilities, which is really good enabling support so that people can be engaged in their own lives and in the 

community and can exercise choice and control. That's a much more skilled, nuanced type of role. We need to 

think about that carefully and think about the specific groups within the bigger disability group that need specific 

types of skilled support, if we're going to follow through on our policy aims. They're very different from aged 

care, which really is caring—and we don't do that particularly well, but it's clear how to do that. That type of 

caring isn't necessary with the type of support we need in disability. I think it's easy to say, 'Everybody's working 

with people who are vulnerable; therefore, it's all the same.' But it's not. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  We just had some witnesses from the mental health sector. They have some 

concerns with regard to the pricing of supports and the fact that they haven't been included in detail on the 

workforce plan. I wonder whether a common workforce does appear to be favoured, and whether not having the 

pricing of supports does go to that race to the bottom you were talking about. 

Prof. Bigby:  Yes. I think there is a major issue and the mental health people would've drawn that out. There's 

a different set of skills in working with people with mental health problems too. If you think about supporting 

people with dementia, often people do have a tendency to wander. People become very distressed when they 

hallucinate and when they can't remember things. The way in which you support those people is very different 

from supporting somebody with intellectual disability who may display the same sort of behaviour but where 

there's often a clearly identified function to that behaviour—the person isn't engaged sufficiently or the person's 

trying to communicate and nobody's listening and they're frustrated. So you need to understand a functional 

reason for that behaviour, and you can also often support people to redirect them into more positive behaviours 

through engagement. Whereas you can't use that same strategy for somebody who has dementia who is 

hallucinating or who is looking in the mirror and seeing their younger self and not recognising themself at the 

moment. So the skills that you need to get the same outcomes, which is a good life for people, are quite different. 

What's happening is that cost is driving these things, and we're losing sight of the expertise that you need to 

deliver good-quality support. It always needs to be a collaboration between the experts and the people themselves, 

and that's obviously mediated by cost, but I think cost is sort of taking a prominent role at the moment. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  You also mentioned the Victorian disability workers registration screen. Do you 

think the NDIS Worker Screening Check is working well? 

Prof. Bigby:  What I mentioned was the Disability Worker Registration Board, which was established in 

Victoria. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  That's it, yes. 

Prof. Bigby:  It's not mandatory but it encourages workers to be registered, and then it will set standards and 

gradually increase those standards probably over time. It allows you to ensure that workers meet those standards. 

At the moment, when they come to re-register, they will have to have demonstrated they've done 10 hours worth 

of professional development over the year. I think that's very positive and it's a way of supporting people and 

making training available so that people know what's there and encouraging them to take that up. At the moment 

there is no mandatory registration. People in the NDIS just have to go through a self-paced learning program. But 
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there's no assessment. Somebody else could do it on their behalf. There's no policing of that. Is that what you 

meant? 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Yes. I wondered particularly with the national worker screening check whether it 

was working well and should be expanded to incentivise training and hiring of trained workers. 

Prof. Bigby:  My understanding at the moment is that the worker screen is just a minimal screen that checks 

your identity and your criminal record and that you've completed some online training modules. So it's very, very 

minimalist. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Yes, but do you think we could use it to incentivise workers to go for extra 

skills, extra training, extra education—do something more with that? 

Prof. Bigby:  Absolutely. As long as we're careful about making training and education available, that we've 

got somebody that is moderating the quality of that and reviewing the quality of that, and we have to consider the 

costs. Remember, disability support workers are very poorly paid in the scheme of things. If we're going to 

incentivise people, one of the ways of doing that is through recognition of their qualifications in their 

remuneration—and making quality training free for people. Those are some of the levers we've got. 

At the moment there's no incentive for a disability support worker or even for an allied health professional to 

do extra training in the field of disability, because there's no extra pay to recognise that. We can use pay, status 

and recognition as a way of encouraging people to do more training, but, on the other hand, we need to make sure 

that there's quality training available to people and that there's some way of setting some standards for that. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  That's an issue that's really of great concern, because the plan itself talks about 

improved training and access to professional development opportunities. The minister herself has talked about 

working with the sector—the peak bodies, families and participants—to work towards implementing the 

initiatives under the plan. But I'm unsure of—and I don't know whether you're aware of—what the next steps are 

in terms of implementing the plan that's been released. 

Prof. Bigby:  I'm no more aware than you, I'm afraid. The point I was trying to make is that, at the moment, it's 

a real conceptual maze out there. There seems to be a whole range of different bodies that have all got a bit of a 

stake, but it's really hard to navigate them. Our university develops, often using grants, free online and evidence 

based training, which we get very positive feedback about. Because it's out there and it's free, people use it 

extensively. The problem is that we haven't built in assessments or certification of that training, because that 

would involve a cost to us and it would reduce the accessibility of that training. It would be very easy to do that, 

and we would be more than happy to do that.  

I think there are other quality higher education providers that are developing that sort of material, but there's no 

funding. There's nobody to go to and say, 'We've got this good quality training; can we put it on your shelf of 

things that you're making available to the sector?' There's no coordinating body at the moment around training for 

disability support workers or for disability practitioners—people who have already got degrees and want to do 

more training in disability. You have to be aware that many of the allied health professionals, even people who 

were trained five years ago, have really had very little content knowledge about current theories of disability and 

understanding disability. They've operated from very medical models. So there is a need for extra training at 

different levels. We need somebody that would coordinate that, so there's somewhere to go not only if you're a 

provider but also if you're a worker who wants to become more skilled. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  In the plan they talk about a chief allied health officer, who was appointed in 

July 2020, to support workforce planning and the allied health leadership into the future. Are you aware of that 

officer? 

Prof. Bigby:  I'm not. There's one in Victoria but, no, I'm not aware of that. At the moment, I sit in a 

university. We have a lot of allied health professional courses in our school, and I don't see external influences on 

them at the moment, saying, 'You've got to build more disability content into your courses' or 'You've got to do 

placements with people with disabilities,' which is the sort of thing that should be happening. One person, as the 

chief, isn't going to be able to achieve a lot of change, but it's a good step in the direction. It depends what their 

mandate is, I guess. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  My concern—and this is my last comment or question—is that they've dropped 

out the plan and there's a complete vacuum in terms of information and what the next part of it is. If the 

department or the minister has a plan going forward, I don't believe that it's been shared widely within the sector. 

Prof. Bigby:  I tend to agree with you. I would say that we've had a number of plans over the last 10 years, 

since the beginning of the NDIS, and we just seem to keep reinventing plans and not taking the next big steps 

forward in terms of implementing things.  
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Senator CAROL BROWN:  Thank you for your time today.  

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Thank you so much for your evidence so far. The key point would seem to be 

making plans and then not implementing them. That is something that I've observed across government at all 

levels for a very, very long time. It's easy to make a strategic plan or a workforce plan or an action plan, but 

actually doing it is where the rubber hits the road. In your professional experience, particularly when it comes to 

the question of evaluation, have you got some examples or case studies of where you have actually seen this kind 

of thing done well?  

Prof. Bigby:  Yes. I mean, we've done some really good evaluations as part of the research work that we've 

done in our centre. There are always two elements to an evaluation. There's the sort of process element: was it 

actually implemented as it was intended and, if not, why not and what changed? That element means that at the 

end of the day you end up with a program logic that says, 'If you do this then you get this outcome and here are 

the steps.' The other evaluation is the outcome: did it actually achieve any outcomes at all and what was 

responsible for those outcomes? We did a piece of work a couple of years ago that was funded by the National 

Disability Research and Development Agenda at that time. The work evaluated five programs that were 

established and funded to support people to participate in the community.  

The interesting thing about doing evaluations like that is that as researchers you can come in and you can 

analyse from the outside what's going on, and then you can design the program logic and you can see what the 

outcomes are. Often the people that are providing those services don't have the time or the conceptual skills to 

actually articulate what they're doing and why, and that's the value of evaluation. You get outsiders with fresh 

eyes and a much more analytical approach that can actually unpick these things, and that gives you a tremendous 

amount of knowledge about what's working for whom and why. There are some really good evaluations out there; 

there are some really poor ones too that just go on spin. But it tends to be, although I hate to say it, the academics 

that are skilled in doing that type of research, not the private consultants who tend to tell you what you want to 

hear.  

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  One of the concerns is that, indeed, they tell you what you want to hear and they 

also tell you what they've been paid to tell you. In terms of this current workforce plan and its apparent absence of 

an evaluatory mechanism, do you think that that basically sets us up to repeat that cycle of writing the plan and 

then never actually testing whether we achieved its goals?  

Prof. Bigby:  The problem is there's no implementation plan to it, so you could keep looking at it at a high 

level, but unless you've got implementation to then measure whether or not— 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Evaluate the implementation of it. 

Prof. Bigby:  Yes, that's right; it just stays at that level. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  You're kind of building a ceiling without building the walls and the foundation. I 

get what you're saying; thank you so much. You may have some views on this, or you may also not and it's totally 

fine if you don't. In your honest view, how did we end up here with such an important workforce strategy, which 

seems to have been developed without properly consulting key stakeholders, or at least it didn't accurately reflect 

the needs of pretty key stakeholders? We heard earlier from Pat Turner from NACCHO, who basically described 

it as a bit useless. In your experience, how do you end up with a plan that comes into being like this, which seems 

to have so many holes in it and then doesn't have an implementation plan to accompany it?  

Prof. Bigby:  I think that's a political question, but it's like we've had a whole series of plans. I think part of the 

underlying issue is that we've got very high expectations. We've got really good policy now about what we expect 

to achieve for people with disabilities. But, actually, if you unpack that, the cost of delivering on that policy and 

those expectations is enormous, and I think there's a worry that we can't actually afford the skilled workforce that 

we need in order to do that. In Norway and in Sweden, most people that work in disability support services are 

three-year university trained people. They're the ones that are the equivalent of our direct support workers. If we 

want to reach those expectations then we have to bite the bullet and say we need a really skilled, trained 

workforce to do that, and I think that's the sticking point, where no government is willing to take that step. As you 

are probably aware, we still undervalue the workforce in disability and we undervalue people with disabilities, 

despite the well-intentioned policy that we have. So there's a mismatch, and that mismatch has been there over 

history. We are just in the process of finalising the history of the largest institution in Victoria that was set up for 

people with intellectual disability, and it's the story of high expectations which are never met because of the costs 

that were involved in it, and I think that's where we are at with this workforce plan.  

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  You made the point very well I think earlier in your evidence about the importance 

of delineating between the type of support that may be needed by one element of the disability community—
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attendant care, support, those kinds of things, versus support to participate in the community, which might be 

needed by somebody with an intellectual disability. It is an absolutely critical distinction. If you look 

internationally to those spaces that you have just referred to—Sweden and others—do they pull off that 

delineation of workforce well?  

Prof. Bigby:  Yes, they do. They have policy which is around people with intellectual disabilities still. We 

have forgotten—we have just amalgamated. We just talk about people with disabilities as if they're all the same, 

and, again, that ends up with a sort of mediocre misunderstanding from most people about the type of support that 

people need and what quality support looks like. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Beyond Sweden, are there other jurisdictions, nations around the world, that have 

developed their workforce to a point that is similar to where you would actually like us to be?  

Prof. Bigby:  I think there are patches. It's very patchy in a number of places. In the UK it's very patchy, and 

they have been going backwards rather than forwards. In the US, there are some really good services and some 

good training, but there are some really poor ones as well. So, other than the Scandinavian countries, I don't think 

we're doing very well around the world at the moment.  

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Please correct me if I am wrong, but it seems to be that, rather than leaning into 

and recognising the diversity of support needs and matching them with a diversity of skill sets within a highly 

qualified workforce, we are trending towards a low skilled workforce designed to support an imagined disability 

community of homogenised support needs. Is that the direction we are going in?  

Prof. Bigby:  I think that puts it really well. We've got the potential here to lead the way across the world with 

our NDIS, and we're not doing that. We're ending up with what I would say is an attendant care model—a support 

worker model—where people become paid companions or just provide personal care, and that's really 

problematic when you've got an intellectual disability and it's very hard to direct a support worker. 

Support workers need to be trained, and they need supervision and leadership of their practice, so it's not just 

the skills at the front line but the skills of the frontline practice leaders that are really critical and need to be built 

into the workforce plan and need to be built into the funding. I notice—I can't resist it—the workforce plan says, 

'Well, we might be able to have peer support in order to get that supervision and development of those frontline 

leaders.' We actually need much more than that, and we could have that. It could be built into our quality and 

safeguarding system that every service needs to have really skilled frontline practice leaders. That would go a 

long way to improving the quality of support and safeguarding people from abuse, as I'm sure you're aware. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Absolutely. There's such an intersection there. The thing that most springs to my 

mind, though, is: there's a lively discourse about the role of legislated, institutionalised safeguarding mechanisms 

and what I'll term natural safeguarding frameworks, but if you don't have somebody that is able to support you to 

engage in the community, you can't create a natural safeguarding dynamic, wherever you sit on that spectrum of 

'Where should the balance be?' 

Prof. Bigby:  Absolutely. We've written and done research about what a skill it is to build natural supports 

around a person, particularly if you don't have strong family members to do that for you and you're starting from a 

very low base, which many people with intellectual disabilities are. Building community connections is a very 

skilled set of tasks. It's very different from being a person paid to go out and have coffee with somebody as a 

support worker. 

Senator STEELE-JOHN:  Absolutely. It actually ends up being the equivalent of an educational support 

worker in an education setting, which is constructed and perceived to be something that supports somebody in an 

institutional setting but is actually, in many settings, a confining element. Thank you for your time. I'll stop there, 

before it becomes the kind of conversation that we actually just need to have coffee and a chat about. Thank you 

for your evidence. I really appreciate it. 

CHAIR:  Professor Bigby, thank you very much for your submission, and thank you for coming along and 

discussing it with us today. We appreciate it very much. 

Prof. Bigby:  Thank you. 
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ATMORE, Dr Christine (Chris), Manager, Policy and Advocacy, Allied Health Professions Australia [by 

video link] 

GROTH, Mr Allan, Director, Policy and Strategy, Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health 

[by video link] 

HEWAT, Mrs Claire, Chief Executive Officer, Allied Health Professions Australia [by video link] 

JOHNSON, Mr Edward, President, Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health [by video 

link] 

MALONEY, Ms Catherine, Chief Executive Officer, Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied 

Health [by video link] 

[14:42] 

CHAIR:  I welcome representatives from Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health and Allied 

Health Professions Australia. We have your submissions. I invite you to make some opening comments if you'd 

like. 

Ms Maloney:  Thanks for the opportunity to again address the committee on the issue of NDIS workforce. 

SARRAH is the peak body representing rural and remote allied health professionals. Our members work across 

regional, rural and remote Australia, in public, private and community sectors, in disability services, health, aged 

care and other settings. SARRAH is a strong supporter of the NDIS. We believe participants should have access 

to enabling services to support their aspirations of inclusion, work, study, increased independence and 

opportunity. However, there is persisting disparity in access to allied health services for people in communities in 

rural and remote Australia. The evidence of that shortfall can be seen in workforce data, where it exists—and for 

much of the allied workforce that information does not exist. The evidence is in consistently lower NDIS 

utilisation rates and in lower use of allied health items on the Medical Benefits Schedule in rural and remote 

areas. 

Maldistribution of the allied health workforce in Australia is severe and longstanding. Unfortunately, most of 

the allied health workforce and service access issues being raised with the committee in July last year remain 

unchanged and may have worsened in that time. We believe that limited workforce mobility, stemming from 

prolonged border closures as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, has exacerbated this longstanding problem over 

the past 18 months. SARRAH has seen an increase in the number of inquiries to our office from NDIS providers 

requesting assistance with workforce recruitment and retention, with some providers disclosing vacancy rates of 

up to 50 per cent of their workforce and others describing significant unmet need in their communities that they 

are unable to act on due to lack of capacity.  

To give an example, in one Modified Monash area we were investigating recently we found that the number of 

registered allied health professionals per hundred thousand of population drops off significantly compared to GP 

numbers. We found that current demand for allied health services in the disability sector indicates a significant 

undersupply. In this region we were researching we found that they needed an additional 35 to 40 allied health 

professionals of various disciplines just to match current demand, let alone meet future needs. Remember, that's 

just in the disability sector and doesn't account for hospital, primary care, aged care, education and all those other 

settings in which allied health professionals work and are in short supply.  

Further, according to National Skills Commission data, demand in the health and social assistance sector in this 

particular region is predicted to grow by nearly 20 per cent by 2025. So this paints a dire picture of acute 

workforce undersupply that is projected to deepen within the next four years. We know that many of the factors 

that constrain the allied workforce and service distribution are systemic.  

SARRAH would like to acknowledge the committee for listening, understanding and making recommendations 

to address these issues substantively. I want to point to a couple of things from the government's response to this 

recommendation that was released last week. Recommendation 11 is to consider the matter of allied health 

workforce maldistribution and develop strategies for enabling workforce distribution sustainability and growth. In 

its response, the government cites the appointment of the Commonwealth Chief Allied Health Officer, in July 

2020, and the Stronger Regional Health Strategy as demonstrating progress in this area. We welcome the 

appointment of a chief allied health officer but the position must be enabled with resources and have sufficient 

clout to influence policy and funding decisions. The Stronger Regional Health Strategy funded 3000 doctors and 

3000 nurses in rural Australia but included no specific support for allied health positions, despite acute rural 

shortages.  
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The strategy included a broadening of the Workforce Incentive Program, WIP, which supports medical general 

practices to allow GPs to engage allied health services if they wish to. However, no funding went to allied health 

services directly and, unfortunately, SARRAH understands that the changes to WIP were not associated with 

extra or targeted funding for allied health. The program was already fully subscribed and there is no information 

publicly available about to what extent allied health services are being delivered, where or to whom under the 

WIP. 

The government response also refers to the NDIS National Workforce Plan and indicates it includes initiatives 

to support the allied health workforce, particularly in regional areas of Australia. We certainly hope that this will 

be the case. The plan appears to be a good effort to deal with these issues and addresses some of the systemic 

shortfalls that have hindered rural and remote workforce capacity in access to date. However, coordinated action 

and commitment across the board in health, aged care, education, across jurisdictions and sectors is required.  

The committee recommended the Commonwealth states and territories approach these issues through an 

appropriate intergovernmental forum. We agree, and it is not clear whether such a forum exists, although it needs 

to. SARRAH welcomes the plan and wants to work with the Department of Social Services, the NDIA and other 

stakeholders to ensure that it delivers the workforce and service capacity that people in rural and remote Australia 

are entitled to, need and have been waiting too long to receive. Thank you. 

Mrs Hewat:  Thank you very much for inviting us to appear. We would like to acknowledge that we're dialling 

in from the lands of the Boonwurrung people of the Kulin nation—that's Chris—and I'm calling in from the 

country of the Gundungurra people, and we pay our respects to their elders past, present and emerging. 

Of AHPA's current peak body member organisations, more than half of our 21 full members have professionals 

who provide services to people who have disability or are seeking to be NDIS participants. Types of services 

include physio, OT, speech pathology, exercise physiology, osteopathy, audiology, orthotics and prosthetics, 

psychology, music therapy and more. The most common roles of allied health in the NDIS are to provide 

evidence to inform a person's application for access to the scheme or to provide supports to participants under a 

plan. Practitioners may also be asked to provide assessments and reports to inform participants' applications to 

vary a plan or support appeals or reviews of a decision of the National Disability Insurance Agency. Allied health 

was also the centre of the recent agency proposal for independent assessments. However, we should stress that 

that was not something that we supported, and we are pleased that that model has been abandoned. 

The Australian government has recently responded to the committee's interim report on the NDIS workforce 

and states that the NDIS national workforce plan takes account of the issues raised by various stakeholders, 

including allied health professionals. Unfortunately, we beg to differ. This is not the case. There are challenges to 

the allied health NDIS workforce and there are currently a number of workforce challenges to our practitioners 

and to allied health NDIS workforce planning. These challenges prevent allied health from providing the full suite 

of supports to participants who would benefit from them. 

Briefly, these challenges include the cost and administrative burden of NDIS provider registration and a lack of 

a level playing field, with a lot of people choosing not to become registered because of the costs and the impost, 

as well as the continuing lack of integration of health, aged care and disability related sectors, resulting in 

duplication of requirements for service providers or in what can only be described as buck passing in terms of 

who's responsible for service provision. This results in confusion, frustration and compromised wellbeing of 

participants. There are regular difficulties in interfacing with agency staff, such as planners and support 

coordinators, who may not understand the value of allied health services or the important distinctions between 

them. Most fundamentally, there is a lack of understanding of allied health by both government and the agency. 

For example, full membership of AHPA requires practitioners to have at least an undergraduate degree and be 

either registered with AHPRA or regulated through their professional discipline. So it's quite wrong to treat allied 

health providers as if we have the same issues as the disability support workforce, as various aspects of the 

workforce plan tend to do. A more appropriate equivalent of disability support workers is our allied health 

assistant workforce. Allied health assistants should never be used to replace the role of allied health professionals 

and under developing best practice require practitioner supervision to undertake delegated tasks. Unfortunately, 

government consultations on health care and disability also fail to appreciate the important roles played by allied 

healthcare providers in primary health care, including prevention. This often means that, as best, allied health is 

treated as an afterthought, as evidenced by the current workforce plan. 

The marginalisation of allied health is exacerbated by the present reality that we are a poor relation when it 

comes to comprehensive data collection, including our workforce. We are similarly behind the eight ball when it 

comes to integration into major digital communication systems. This is chicken-and-egg situation, as it then 

continues to translate into a poor foundation of planning. The plan proposes strategies for allied health. The plan's 



Tuesday, 12 October 2021 Joint Page 23 

 

NATIONAL DISABILITY INSURANCE SCHEME JOINT COMMITTEE 

proposed strategies for allied health are thin and do not address the fundamental issues for our workforce. As 

outlined in our submission, in general we need concrete, workable solutions to a lack of coordinated and funded 

clinical disability placements for students. There's no pipeline for the workforce. There is insufficiently resourced 

supervision and mentoring, and allied health professionals need ongoing support. There's a lack of career 

pathways because of the design of the NDIS workforce. In addition, we need full [inaudible] resourcing of new 

and diverse service models so we can overcome the problem of thin markets, and not only in rural and remote 

areas. 

The government's response to recommendation 11 of the committee's interim report is insufficient. Workforce 

strategy development must accept that our current system is poorly served by being underpinned by current 

narrow funding models, and that planning which is fit for purpose requires gap analysis and consistent collection 

of allied health workforce data. To obtain the most of our diverse workforce the value of allied health must be 

fully recognised and we must be able to meaningfully engage at all stages with policy development and 

implementation. 

CHAIR:  Was either organisation consulted on the development of the workforce plan? 

Mrs Hewat:  AHPA was consulted in the development of the workforce plan, but I would have to say that it 

was an extraordinarily frustrating exercise and we do not feel we were listened to very much at all. 

Ms Maloney:  Similarly, it was very late in the piece that we were consulted. I would agree with Claire that it 

was always a difficult thing to feel as though you were being heard. 

CHAIR:  Ms Hewat, in your submission you discuss the need for workforce data in the development of 

workforce plans. Could you elaborate on the type of data which is missing and which you believe is required? 

Mrs Hewat:  For registered professions it is known how many practitioners there are because they have to be 

registered. However, what they're doing—whether they're working in disability or working in aged care—is not 

captured. For the self-regulated professions, which are numerous, particularly involved in disability—such as 

speech pathology, exercise physiology and counselling—there is no data. We don't know how many there are, we 

don't know where they are and we don't know what they're doing, so it's impossible to plan any workforce 

strategies. There's also absolutely no data collection on outcome [inaudible] where people are employed in 

hospitals or [inaudible] there is no intelligence whatever. 

Dr Atmore:  That's also based on the needs that have been processed through the agencies. As Ms Maloney 

said earlier, growth is projected to be a lot larger than the demands are currently. One of our ongoing issues is 

also that, because of the lack of understanding of the full value of allied health, the needs estimate at the moment 

is based on planners and coordinators actually understanding that participants might require allied health. So our 

view is that the need is even greater than what we can possibly count, even if we did have access to existing data. 

CHAIR:  Who would be best placed to collect this data? 

Mrs Hewat:  The AIHW is starting to nibble around the edges of doing this in primary care. There is 

substantial government data collection through AIHW on medical services, and we contend that exactly the same 

attention should be paid to allied health as is paid to medical services. 

CHAIR:  I have one other area of questioning before I go to Senator Brown. You mentioned the cost of 

registration being a dampener on people registering and becoming part of the system. Can you elaborate on that? 

Mrs Hewat:  Yes. Registration is required if you are providing services under an agency-managed plan. 

Registration is not required if you are providing services to people with self-managed plans. And the cost of 

registration for an allied health professional or a small business is higher in rural and remote areas than it is in 

metropolitan areas. So that's a further disincentive. We're talking $7,000 to $10,000. That's a lot of money for a 

small business, especially when their margins are narrow. A lot of providers are just saying, 'I will only provide 

services to people with self-managed plans.' So for those on agency-managed plans, their whole idea of choice 

and control starts to become a bit of a joke, because it's what's available, not what you can choose. 

Ms Maloney:  Can I just add to that by saying that most practices in rural locations offer a mixed business. 

They will provide a range of services, including disability, but not only disability services. That adds to the 

additional cost for them to participate in the scheme. In rural communities particularly, where clients will be 

accessing their services on the basis of their known local reputation, the need for them to be part of the system is 

not so great. They will have a strong rural practice based on their reputation locally. 

CHAIR:  Does registration add anything that's not already provided through those practitioners who are 

registered with APRA, or those practitioners who are in self-regulated professions such as speech pathologists? 
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What more does registration add? I suppose what I'm really getting at is why isn't there some mutual recognition 

of other forms of registration? 

Dr Atmore:  I might jump in there, Chair, and say, 'What an excellent question!' That is something that we've 

been saying for quite some time. Given the level of training, competency, accreditation and regulation that allied 

health professionals already have to undertake by virtue of being a professional, we can't see the point in doubling 

up in terms of time, resources and costs, especially if we have professionals who might work across disability, 

aged care, primary health, veterans affairs and so on. We're very keen and very pleased to see now the start of 

engagement with us around cross-sector regulation and working out a better system, we hope. 

CHAIR:  I'll tease that out a bit further, Dr Atmore and play devil's advocate to some extent. Is there anything 

that registration adds by way of protecting the safety and wellbeing of the NDIS participant that is not already 

provided by being either registered under another regime or being part of a self-regulating profession? 

Dr Atmore:  Claire may wish to add further comment, but I think there are ways to ensure that participants are 

protected from any potential abuse and their consumer rights protected, depending on what the service is, without 

requiring duplication of registration. You might want to say more, Claire. 

Mrs Hewat:  Largely, registration is not around clinical practice; it is around the business sector. It's around 

whether you have a complaints mechanism, or whether you are keeping appropriate records. A lot of that is 

required anyway by being a registered professional. So it's really not addressing clinical practice. It is something 

around the edges. 

We have no objection to the concept of practice accreditation, but not when it causes undue burden, when 

there's not a level playing field and some people can opt in and some people can opt out. There's now a new 

primary-care practice accreditation program—literally launched today—which is going to cut across the NDIS 

registration program and add extra burdens. It has just become a bit of a dog's breakfast at the moment. 

CHAIR:  Why can't that be achieved, though, by subscription by an individual to a set of quality assurance 

standards? It does seem to me, having been an aged-care minister a long time ago, that the natural response to 

regulatory authorities in this country, in this sector, is to put more and more layers of regulation in place, which 

actually removes the obligation on providers and organisations to provide a quality assurance framework 

themselves. Am I barking up the wrong tree when I suggest that, if there was a quality assurance framework, and 

if you want to be a provider in the NDIS area, you simply have to agree that you are providing a quality assurance 

framework? That would seem to me to achieve the same thing, because it would protect consumer rights, or 

participant rights, but it wouldn't put this whole burden of regulation in place that we seem wont to do in this 

country.  

Mrs Hewat:  That sounds sensible to me. I don't know what anyone else thinks.  

Mr Johnson:  I could potentially comment on that. I'm a clinical service provider myself; I'm a speech 

pathologist. Besides my role with SARRAH, I provide clinical speech services in rural and remote areas. And 

definitely, as Claire said before, the process of registration with the NDIS is very onerous and doesn't focus on 

core clinical competencies. But, at the same time, if we wish to provide NDIS services, we are obliged to become 

a member of Speech Pathology Australia, which we wouldn't otherwise have to do.  

In that whole process, our core clinical competencies—beyond having a degree—are not assessed. So there 

isn't a rigorous quality assurance process through that, but one of the issues that has come up in previous 

conversations off the record with policymakers is that, if we were to require that kind of standard, at the moment 

we don't have the skills in disability practice to be able to support the NDIS. The whole thing would fall apart. We 

don't have huge amounts of disability content, as Professor Bigby mentioned earlier, in our university courses, 

which can provide the kinds of skills that we need to support people with disabilities effectively. We're essentially 

going in blind. In rural and remote areas it's even worse, because we have less supervision: there are fewer senior 

clinical supervisors around us to provide the support.  

CHAIR:  If I understand you, Mr Johnson—just so I'm clear and the record's clear—even though we have a 

registration process, it doesn't actually go to the clinical competencies that one might expect in a well-structured, 

regulated system.  

Mr Johnson:  That's correct. For example, in speech pathology, you might be a speech pathologist working in 

a hospital with people who have experienced strokes or brain injuries. You might work with little kids. You might 

work in disability, with people who don't use verbal language at all. They're all very different skills, and a lot of 

us don't have those specific disability skills, and they're not assessed as such after graduation.  

CHAIR:  Thank you. I'll go to Senator Brown.  
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Senator CAROL BROWN:  Thank you, Chair. I just wanted to go back to the level of consultation. I 

understand you indicated that there was some frustration with the consultation that you were involved in, but how 

was the consultation conducted? Was it through the Chief Allied Health Officer?  

Mrs Hewat:  No. It wasn't. It was a workforce advisory committee of the NDIA that had invited participants. I 

have to say that, by and large, it was focused on the support workforce. It was actually very hard to get a word in 

edgeways about what was needed for allied health. Even in the workforce plan, there's a sense that it's really all 

about the support workforce, which makes it very difficult. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  In terms of the Commonwealth Chief Allied Health Officer, that officer is named 

in the workforce as continuing to support workforce planning in the allied health leadership into the future. What 

involvement have you had with the Chief Allied Health Officer? 

Mrs Hewat:  Extensive. But, really, the CAHO was not involved in that particular consultation as far as we 

were aware at all. She is working more, as we understand it, on the coordination between disability, health and 

aged care, and that, really, is only in its infancy. She has been around for just over a year and, as Cath pointed out, 

compared to the chief nurse and the deputy chief medical officers, she is at an assistant secretary level. She has 

minimal power and is well below the level that is required to really have a strong influence on our cause. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  There seems to be, in my view, some concern that the workforce plan is being 

put out there without any sort of indication of the next steps. The plan itself and the minister's message within the 

plan does talk about relying on experts in the field and participants in terms of implementing the initiatives. It just 

seems like it's been put out there, and there are just crickets now. 

Mrs Hewat:  AHPA has described it as a plan to have a plan. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  That's my concern. We're eight years in. I think the minister has indicated we 

need another 83,000 workers by 2024. The indication, though—and I'd like your comment on this—is that there 

seems to be a focus on a common workforce. Would you agree with that statement? 

Ms Maloney:  Yes. We would agree with that. There's insufficient definition of the professional workforce, as 

opposed to the assistant and therapy assistant workforce, as opposed, again, to the personal care workforce. One 

of the things we found frustrating was that lack of understanding about the nature of the therapy input that is put 

into the disability plans. It's treating us all as one unified workforce when, in fact, there are significantly different 

levels of qualifications and expertise. 

Mr Groth:  I want to add to what Cath said and, I think, what Senator Brown is getting at. We have a lot of 

work happening around developing a workforce without actually addressing the underpinnings of where the 

workforce has been lacking. That goes back for a couple of decades. We know that there haven't been anywhere 

near enough allied health professionals across the board for a couple of decades, and that certainly is the case in 

rural and remote areas. These issues were brought out by the previous National Rural Health Commissioner, Paul 

Worley, in a report that's had relatively little attention since it was released, or given to the minister, in June 2020. 

There's a bit of catch-up going on here that certainly doesn't emphasise the need to have a coherent workforce that 

operates around a person, or a patient, or a participant in a community or the community in itself. So what you see 

is a shortfall. It plays out particularly poorly in rural and remote Australia, because these are places that you 

cannot duplicate a separate workforce for every system that goes through. You can't have one that's aged care, one 

that's unsustainable. The reality is that people in those communities work across sectors, but we don't have a 

funding system or a policy system that enables them to work. 

 One way to make it sustainable, supposedly in a very short-term sense, is to generalise the workforce to the 

lowest possible pay rate and hope that you're going to get the outcome you get out of specialist services. That's 

not going to happen. One of the good things about rural and remote service practitioners is that they figure out 

how to actually deliver quality care in an environment that isn't supported in the same way as a metropolitan 

setting. There are plenty of those examples. The problem tends to be that these things aren't supported to be rolled 

out at an adequate level or with the local coordination or the national coordination to enable them to survive.  

Consequently, we still have low utilisation rates, high hospitalisation rates, high chronic disease rates and that 

sort of thing. There is a positive in the workforce development strategy in as much as it says that we need to work 

across these sectors. Anyway, it is a longstanding issue, and it needs some serious work. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  You mentioned the low utilisation rates and the direct link to workforce supply. I 

think every MP and senator would have been contacted by people that can't get the support or can't get a 

practitioner. What is it that needs to be done to ensure a solution to the problem of keeping up with the demand? 

You indicated that there are some programs that are working that are not rolled out in a broader sense. What can 
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the minister do to ensure that the implementation of the initiatives in the plan actually do go to fixing the 

problems that have been identified for many, many years now? 

Mr Groth:  At a systemic level, there's not an overnight fix. The things that Claire raised in her opening 

remarks are about how to support. There are programs to do this. The Rural Health Multidisciplinary Training 

Program has bipartisan support. It's been supported by governments for a couple of decades now. It's a very good 

program, in the main. However, it tends to—and a recent report gets to this—very much support medical over 

nursing or allied health, so there's a need to do that. The findings of an evaluation said there's space here to really 

improve the game. Some universities are better than others, but there's plenty of space across the board to improve 

access for the capacity to support rural and remote allied health and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. 

They're the two areas you could really put a lot of emphasis on. 

Appreciating that this is a pathway, there's also a lot of work that needs to be done in the VET sector. The 

people you're speaking with now have all been involved in looking at the VET review, and we have some 

concerns about that. We know that it's an important thing to move ahead, but the focus tends to be, again, very 

sector based. That's fine if you want to employ someone as a disability services support worker or an aged-care 

worker. But if you're a therapy assistant and work across those sectors, working to a trained allied health 

professional and you have allied health assisted training that specialises in that, you can apply those skills not 

only under direction and somewhat remotely but across multiple sectors. They're the sorts of things that can 

happen. But our drama with that is that it's hard to get clinical placements because there isn't a service support 

system out there to do that, even in the VET or university sectors. 

The other thing that impedes it is that, while allied health assistance might be on the scope for delivery, it's 

rarely offered in communities where there isn't an immediate and obvious demand. Because we don't have allied 

health professionals or delivery services, kids at school or young people or other people wanting to return to the 

workforce don't see that. They might see a nurse, or they might see an Aboriginal health worker, but they don't 

see an allied health assistant, because an allied health professional isn't there. That happens in communities across 

the board. Others will no doubt have a better view than I do. 

Mrs Hewat:  One of the big areas on which we have had some acrimonious discussions with the NDIA is 

about the training pipeline. It's very difficult to get disability placements. When disability was managed in the 

state system through the hospital system, there were a fairer number of placements available. Now, because it has 

basically become private and market-based, there is no coordinated support for disability placements, there's no 

pipeline, and there's nowhere to effectively and comprehensively train people to go into the disability workforce. 

That goes to things that Ed said about not having those skills. You cannot expect somebody who has had all their 

placements in an acute hospital to suddenly wander out and just be able to do disability, as if they learn it by 

osmosis. We've been very clear that we believe it is a government responsibility to support this. If you want the 

NDIS to have a workforce, then the government needs to support it. But the pushback has been, 'It's not our 

responsibility.' Well, it's certainly not ours, so we would like the government to consider how training placements 

can be appropriately supported across health, disability and aged care, because aged care is going to be a similar 

problem. 

The other issue is this nonsense about thin markets. A thin market is not a market. If you have a thin market, 

it's not working. But NDIS has now become a completely market based approach, as if somehow economics is 

going to just work it all out. It's not going to in rural and remote areas, and even in lower socioeconomic areas in 

more urban areas, because the money simply isn't there. Whilst we keep talking about a market-based approach, 

rural, remote and low-socioeconomic areas are destined to fail. 

Ms Maloney:  I have one other comment to add to those who've already spoken, and that is to mention 

Professor Paul Worley's report. There were a number of strategies that he described in that report that are yet to be 

implemented and, if they were implemented, would go a fair way towards addressing this longstanding workforce 

shortage. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Are you essentially saying that the workforce plan doesn't go anywhere near 

addressing the issue of thin markets? 

Mrs Hewat:  That's right. 

Ms Maloney:  Yes. 

Dr Atmore:  I think that the big theme of the workforce plan that sits in people's minds is the promotion 

campaign that's currently being run to make working in the disability sector more attractive. That's just not our 

priority. Allied health practitioners love their jobs, they value their clients, and they think what they're doing is 
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really important. It's these other roadblocks that need concrete strategies in place to address them, not an 

advertising campaign. Unfortunately, that was our first take-home message when we read the workforce plan. 

Mr Groth:  Could I comment on the thin markets issue as well? 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Sure. 

Mr Groth:  You can go to a community in the Northern Territory with a population of 5,000 people, and you'll 

find next to no or very few allied health professionals who are permanently placed there. You might have some 

FIFO—fly-in fly-out—services. They'll be classified as 'in market' because traditional service systems don't make 

enough profit to continue and stay viable there. However, if you have a look at community need, probably a 

thousand of those people have fairly high needs, and that's before we talk about aged care or MBS items or 

anything else. It's not a thin market if you look at a community need basis, when the potential income could be 

derived from a range of sources if they were coordinated and able to be accessed to support a strong service base. 

But the system doesn't actually allow that to happen. If you look at it on a systemic basis—the chair raised some 

issues about registration and the costs and impediments with that, as well as the time frames and all those other 

things including access to service supports. If you address those, then that thin market is no longer a thin market; 

it's a very viable service then, where there is desperate need and high [inaudible]. The result of not having those 

services there is high hospitalisation rates and high amputation rates, and higher than necessary prescription drug 

use because alternative therapies are not available. So when thinking about thin markets, it's not about cost 

effectiveness; it's about a particular mechanism that doesn't work in those environments. There are the places 

where, yes, of course it's going to cost you more than you can derive, but it probably would cost a lot less than the 

alternatives that we're currently paying through the nose for, with fly-in fly-outs, hospitalisations, amputations 

and a whole heap of other things. So, at a system level, thin markets are a bit of a furphy. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  What is the increase of the allied health workforce that needs to be achieved by 

the time the NDIS reaches full maturity? Do you have that information?  

Ms Maloney:  The best estimates would be from the NDIA service demand maps. That tracks what is in an 

individual's plan as opposed to what is being spent on that plan. It varies from region to region, but it's in the 

order of around about 15 per cent I believe. Somebody else can probably correct me on those figures if necessary. 

Across the board it is at least that, between now and 2025.  

Mr Groth:  Dr Atmore raised issues about whether there is an understatement that it chronic within the system 

itself. If you don't distinguish whether is it NDIS, aged care or the health system, most allied health professions 

are predicted, from known demand, to grow between 15 and 30 per cent in the next five years. So we know there 

is this much and know that those who are ready to employ would take up 15 to 30 per cent more. With the NDIS, 

certainly in the city, there's plenty of work there. From what we can tell in the rural areas, especially with 

shortfalls, you could probably double the number of allied health professionals working outside of the cities and 

they would all be fully employed, if they were supported to go there and there was some viable mechanism.  

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Thin markets, of course, lead to the underutilisation of plans, which is a major 

concern. But you also indicate that the workplace plan doesn't adequately address issues around allied health 

professionals. I'm interested in your view about the next step the minister and the government should be taking, 

because at the moment we've got this document out there and I just don't see what's happening at all in terms of 

consultation with the sector, with participants and with providers about how we implement the workforce plan.  

Dr Atmore:  I think some of that goes back to what Claire was saying in our opening statement about the data 

and the lack of granular information about the workforce shortages. We know, of course, that there are significant 

shortages, but of course that's very patchy across the country as well. For example, I understand that in Tasmania 

there is a massive shortfall speech pathology. So what we really would have liked to have seen inform the plan is 

a detailed analysis of allied health services across the country—where are the pockets where particular types of 

disciplines are just not there or hardly there at all?—and an ongoing commitment for a decent workforce data 

strategy, which, as Cath said, was a recommendation by the previous National Rural Health Commissioner, but 

it's almost like it just disappeared. He spent quite a bit of time in his report talking about that. So once you have 

an actual foundation of evidence for planning, and then you start looking at solutions on the basis of where the 

gaps are and what needs to be done. 

Ms Maloney:  To add to that, I think that we need to take a multipronged approach to what needs to happen 

because we can't wait for a workforce dataset to arrive; that's years away. One of the ways you could think about 

it is in terms of that workforce pipeline. We would suggest that you've got to look to students from a rural 

background and perhaps setting quotas for universities accepting students from rural backgrounds into allied 

health programs. 
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I think you need to look at the type of subjects that are available for students to study in the allied health 

professions, because those supports have been reduced in recent years and allied health students have to compete 

with other STEM and VET sector candidates for scholarships through the Department of Education, Skills and 

Employment. Because that has happened just in the last five years, I think we are yet to see the impact on the 

number of rural students studying the allied health professions in recent years. 

Thirdly, I think you could look at a pathways approach by shoring up some of the workforce pipeline and 

providing stepping stones from a VET sector into university education. You might look at allied health assistance 

and increasing capacity in that workforce and providing pathways for them to then study in the allied health 

professions. If you look to Tasmania as an example, they are very short on allied health university programs, they 

do not have an allied health assistant workforce in that state and they don't have training into allied health 

assistance in Tasmania. So what happens is that students have to go to the mainland to study in the allied health 

programs, and they tend not to come back. So that's an example. If you have a pathways approach and provide 

those stepping stones for kids from rural backgrounds to study locally and then progress into allied health 

university programs, then you've got some chance of establishing a workforce that is of a rural background and 

wants to come back and work rurally on graduation. Let alone all the supports that they then require to overcome 

professional isolation and address career pathways post graduation, there is a whole stock of work that needs to 

happen in this space. As Allan said, it's not a quick fix. 

Mr Johnson:  Could I add something to that, Cath, as well? I agree with what you say. 

Further to disability-specific clinical skills in rural and remote areas: what is working well, both in research 

contexts and in practice, is the notion of supporting rural generalists through specialist input from larger rural 

centres, or larger regional centres and metro areas. This is something that the medical workforce and the medical 

system—MBS—are very familiar with. A GP might refer to a specialist in a large metro area, and a lot of 

telehealth is used around that these days. That also provides a level of upskilling for that general practitioner and 

it can be the same case for allied health. It does work, but with the NDIS you get a double-up on the costs for the 

client in that case. They would have to pay the generalist clinician for their time to contact the specialist clinician, 

and then the specialist clinician as well for their time to upskill the clinician in that context. 

At the moment, a lot of work goes on just out of the goodness of people's hearts. Someone who might be a 

specialist in a disability area takes on clinical supervision—clinical mentoring or work shadowing—with a whole 

range of rural clinicians for nothing, just because that provides skills to those people in that context. We can see 

that that model works really well, we just don't have a systematic funding arrangement for it. 

Ms Maloney:  Thank you. I would support that and, if you want to compare and contrast, look at the level of 

support around the medical workforce: there's nothing to support allied health workforce development at any 

level, really, which compares to that. It has been said that the medical workforce is 10 per cent of the health 

workforce, but attracts 90 per cent of the funding for workforce development. So there's a huge disparity there. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Okay, thank you. 

CHAIR:  I thank you all for participating in the hearing today and for your submissions to the inquiry. We do 

appreciate it very much. 

Ms Maloney:  Thanks, Chair. 
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EASTE, Ms Cathleen (Cathy), President, Australian Tertiary Education Network on Disability [by video 

link] 

PAPWORTH, Ms Lee, Vice-President, Australian Tertiary Education Network on Disability [by video 

link] 

[15:37] 

CHAIR:  We will now move to representatives from the Australian Tertiary Education Network on Disability. 

I believe that Ms Easte is not yet online? 

Ms Papworth:  We do hope to be joined by Ms Easte this afternoon, yes. 

CHAIR:  We'll start, and she can join in when she comes online. I welcome you, Ms Papworth. Would you 

like to make some opening comments? 

Ms Papworth:  Yes, thank you. The Australian Tertiary Education Network on Disability read of the plan with 

great interest. There are three main points here, and the submission we would like to make is that there are 

opportunities needed for internships and graduate opportunities both for vocational education and training 

graduates within the agency, recognising that people with disability are part of the workforce. That's something 

that doesn't come through clearly in the document. Part of the strategy is to really grow the lived experience of the 

workforce and also to codesign it with people with disability. 

The second point is that we see the need for improved integration of accessible work placements within the 

VET coursework and higher education and to see those placements within the NDIS workforce. There are points 

in the document about increasing the number and capability of NDIS workers, and we see that as being really 

contingent upon those work placement opportunities, accessible work placements, as well as the employment of 

people with disabilities within the agency to inform externally. 

The third point is that we see support workers on campus. We have developed, in conjunction with the NDCO 

Program, support worker training so that there is a consistent awareness of NDIS support workers coming on to 

and working with students in tertiary campuses and the VET sector. So we're looking for more of that training—

and also to develop pathways, because there is a gap for many people with disability in being able to access the 

training they need to enter the VET sector and the tertiary sector. It's about joining up the educational and 

vocational outcomes so that there are clear pathways for students, for people who are looking for their future 

pathways.  

There are a couple examples of that. Students who are deaf or hard of hearing may find that they need to 

increase their English literacy before being able to enter a course, and how they manage that is not clearly 

articulated yet. It's not clearly funded either. We also have people with intellectual disability, and, currently, if 

they want to audit a subject at a university, it won't be funded; it's privately funded. So there are pathways that 

need to be unpacked, and more strategy is needed across the education and employment pathways, because 

currently we're really asking of an individual or their family, and, at times, of their planner, more strategic acumen 

than we would ask of others. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Ms Papworth. I'll just lead off. In your comments, then, and indeed in your submission, 

you recommended that the NDIA should develop and implement a strategy to grow the lived-experience 

workforce. Can you elaborate on that or explain in more detail what you think that strategy should look like and 

what it should include? 

Ms Papworth:  Yes. It should include opportunities for people to take up internships, graduate opportunities 

and of course roles within the agency that are clearly identified. Sometimes it's seen to be a lesser strategy to have 

a direct, identified intake for people with disability, because the focus is on equitable experience and employment 

on merit. However, there does need to be a clear encouragement of people with disability, graduates and students 

to make those applications and to be sure that there's also clarity on any adjustments within their recruitment 

process and that the agency is an inclusive employer. 

CHAIR:  And would you say that the recruitment process doesn't do that at the present time or doesn't do it 

adequately? 

Ms Papworth:  I'm not sure that it does it adequately. 

CHAIR:  Should there be, for example, targets for the number of people who have disability to be part of the 

NDIA workforce? 

Ms Papworth:  I think that's something that could seriously be considered as part of the strategy. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. 
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Senator CAROL BROWN:  I will ask around the consultation. Was your network consulted on the 

development of the workforce plan? 

Ms Papworth:  We were invited to make a submission in 2020. I don't know that we were consulted about the 

development of the plan. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Do you think that the plan appropriately addresses the current issues around 

education and training? 

Ms Papworth:  No. I don't think that it quite addresses education and training in a way that shows a clear path. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  What are the gaps or shortcomings in the plan? Have you had time to have a 

look at that and analyse where the gaps are? 

Ms Papworth:  Yes. We did submit some of the information about the gaps that we identified. There is a gap 

for the movement into the workforce, seeing where we have students with disability graduating from universities 

and not being in open employment in the same numbers as their peers, and also TAFE students with disability 

who were not employed before training. There's an employment rate of 28.1 per cent post training for those 

students with disability, compared to their fellow students achieving an employment rate of 46.1 per cent. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  What's your overall view of the plan? 

Ms Papworth:  It shows an intent. However, it needs to incorporate the voice of people with disability and 

some clear guidance as to how the outcomes are going to be reached. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I think the minister does say in her message in the plan 'working with the sector 

and providers and people with disability'. How would you like to see them roll out the next stage? The plan itself 

has a number of initiatives—16, I think—and some very neat phrasing, but there's no indication that I can see 

about how the government's going to go about implementing those initiatives. What would you like to see? 

Ms Papworth:  I would like to see some clear co-design with people with disability, both already employed 

users of the services and those who have identified the gaps, and that may include people from within the 

Australian Tertiary Education Network on Disability. But to be part of the working group consultation that 

outlines how those 16 objectives would be met. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  You put in a submission last year for the plan. Have you heard anything back 

other than this plan being released to the public? 

Ms Papworth:  No, we haven't. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  No indication on how the 16 initiatives will be implemented? 

Ms Papworth:  The communication we've had since we made a submission was to be invited to this hearing 

today. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Okay. You put the submission in to the NDIA—is that right? I'm just trying to 

work out whether we're at cross-purposes. Did you receive an invitation to submit from this committee or were 

you invited to do so by the NDIA or the department? 

Ms Papworth:  From this committee. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  So there has been no additional follow-up or information on how the sector and 

participants will be involved in implementing these initiatives? 

Ms Papworth:  No, not that I'm aware of. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I appreciate you coming here today and giving us your evidence. It's very much 

appreciated. 

CHAIR:  Thank you very much, Ms Papworth. Thank you for your submission and thank you for coming 

online and discussing it with us today. We appreciate it very much. Thank you. 

Ms Papworth:  Thank you.  
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BUTCHER, Ms Alison, Section Councillor, Tasmania and Victoria, National Disability Insurance Agency, 

Community and Public Sector Union [by video link] 

PACKMAN, Mr Michael, Section Councillor, Queensland, National Disability Insurance Agency, 

Community and Public Sector Union [by video link] 

PRESCOTT, Ms Bettina, Section Secretary, National Disability Insurance Agency, Community and Public 

Sector Union [by video link] 

VILLEGAS, Mr David, National Organiser, National Disability Insurance Agency, Community and Public 

Sector Union [by video link] 

VINCENT-PIETSCH, Mrs Beth, Deputy Secretary, Community and Public Sector Union [by video link] 

WRAY, Mr Paul, Section Councillor, New South Wales, National Disability Insurance Agency, Community 

and Public Sector Union [by video link] 

[15:52] 

CHAIR:  I welcome representatives from the Community and Public Sector Union. Thank you for appearing 

before the committee today. Thank you for your submission to the inquiry. Would you like to make some opening 

comments? 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  The CPSU, as you know, represents people at the National Disability Insurance 

Agency but also the National Disability Insurance Scheme Quality and Safeguards Commission. We really thank 

you for this opportunity to address the committee again. 

Our last submission to this committee was in April 2020, and when we appeared then I hope that our members 

demonstrated, as I'm sure they will today, how passionate they are about the work that they do and delivering a 

better life for the hundreds of thousands of Australians with a significant permanent disability, as well as their 

families and carers, of course. 

They are deeply committed to the success of the scheme, but our members continue to have ongoing concerns 

around three core problems: chronic understaffing, excessive use of a labour hire and unsafe levels of workload 

stress. Despite the best efforts of staff across both the NDIA and the NDIS QSC, scheme participants and service 

providers are not always getting the level of support that they should, and participants suffer the most from 

backlogs in decision-making, subpar planning outcomes, relentless reviews of decisions, as well as assembly-line 

style and fast-tracked approval processes, which place the entire long-term financial viability of the scheme at 

risk.  

The NDIA was originally forecast to have over 10,500 staff by 2018-19. But, five years after that 

announcement, they are still only at half that number. An 800 increase to the ASL cap in October 2019 was 

insufficient to meet the growing needs of the scheme and insufficient to clear the backlogs of plans and reviews. 

It's left the NDIA scrambling to move resources, most notably in their recent program called 'resourcing our front 

line'.  

Since its inception, the NDIA has also been unable to reach its potential because of its overuse of labour hire. 

Our most recent data from June 2021 indicates that over 1,400 positions, or about 26 per cent of the entire NDIA 

workforce, are labour hire. They come from 46 different labour hire suppliers—labour hire almost exclusively 

working on core agency work, and the labour hire is used despite it being widely and openly acknowledged by 

senior NDIA staff that labour hire costs the agency more than their APS equivalent, although ironically the 

individuals actually earn less. NDIA claims it would be a significant diversion of resources to determine exactly 

how much more they're paying, but, based on reports from other agencies, we assume it's likely to cost between 

12 and 26 per cent more, and that's money that would be much better spent on direct APS employment.  

Unsustainable workloads driven by unrealistic key performance indicators, or KPIs, because of the 

understaffing, are affecting the work health and safety of staff. The 2020 APS census results for the NDIA 

confirmed these workload pressures, with 71 per cent of all staff stating that they're working above capacity and 

65 per cent of staff in the internal review team reporting being burnt out by their work. The CPSU ran a recent 

survey as well, with 935 NDIA staff participating. It detailed how the pressure to meet KPIs was having an 

adverse impact on mental health and work motivation. Nearly 50 per cent of all respondents indicated that they 

neglected tasks just to keep up with KPIs. Over 70 per cent of respondents indicated meeting KPIs caused 

excessive stress, and this number was over 81 per cent when it just looked at planners alone. Negative impacts 

described included sleeping problems, depression and the use of medication to cope.  
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The issue of unsustainable workload is not new, and the CPSU have been pushing for some time to ensure that 

NDIA workers are safe. Prompted by the Participant Service Guarantee, the NDIA has sought to review processes 

to streamline work. However, none of the measures that have been introduced have been successful so far. 

Workload as a health and safety problem still exists. Like the NDIA, the NDIS QSC has been undermined by a 

staffing model reliant on labour hire and a failure to provide the resources it needs. The workload issues are 

widely known within the agency. The most recent APS census found that 85 per cent of staff indicated they were 

working above capacity. In the reportable incidents team, staff members at any given time will have hundreds of 

serious incidents in their caseload. It was only after a recent provisional improvement notice that the commission 

was forced to openly accept that workloads are a health and safety issue. The commission's primary response has 

been consistent uptake of labour hire, but the current resources are simply not enough. Furthermore, rather than 

hiring more permanent frontline staff, nearly half the commission is made up of executive level staff, making it 

one of the most top-heavy organisations in the APS.  

So, altogether, that lack of job security, inadequate staffing and high workloads due to KPI pressures lead to 

very high staff turnover and a self-perpetuating cycle. To meet the needs of the community these agencies are 

supposed to serve, the labour hire needs to end. These agencies need to get properly funded and resourced and 

with a proportionate increase to permanent staffing that can meet the increased workloads they are projected to 

have into the future. Until this occurs, the full potential of these agencies and the scheme itself will not be 

reached.  

With me today I have Bettina Prescott, who is very keen to speak to you about the issues with an overreliance 

on labour hire; Michael Packman and Alison Butcher, who are very keen to speak about the impacts of 

understaffing; Paul Wray, who is keen to explore the workload and the impact that is having; and David Villegas, 

who is here to answer any questions about the NDIS QSC.  

CHAIR:  I will lead off and then I will go to Ms Payne. In terms of the size of the workforce, is this an issue 

about there not being enough qualified people to work within the agencies or a question about the composition in 

terms of the source of those workers, as is in permanent employees of the agency versus labour hire workers?  

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  Was that directed to me, or— 

CHAIR:  Whoever would like to answer it.  

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  I think Bettina would probably be best placed. 

CHAIR:  Yes. My question was: are we talking about, overall, a shortage of people available to fill the 

positions, or is it a question about the composition in terms of permanents versus people who are employed under 

labour hire arrangements?  

Ms Prescott:  I think, in my experience, it is the latter. So, although we could certainly say quite a bit—and I'm 

sure my colleagues will later—about the number of staff, I don't think it's a matter of a lack of capability out 

there, or people who have the necessary skills. I think that having a staffing level cap, for example, has made it 

difficult and has led to the difficult key performance indicators that Beth spoke about earlier. But, in relation to 

the composition of the staff, I do think that is one of the most problematic aspects of the agency in terms of its 

workforce. It makes it difficult for a number of reasons. For example, in many cases, we have people who aren't 

able to make delegated decisions, even though the work that they are doing typically requires a delegate who is an 

APS staff member to make the decision. For example, in the review space, there are a number of staff who are 

supporting the review process. For example, the labour hire workers in that context would be doing all the 

research; they would be doing essentially all of the work at the back end, but then it's almost like a bottleneck 

sometimes, where it would get to a delegate who needs to be the person to approve that, because the labour hire 

staff who worked on the case cannot. And this isn't just limited to the front-end work in terms of dealing with 

participants and the community; it does go to back-end work as well. So ICT, policy settings—essentially every 

enabling function that exists—would have some level of labour hire in their workforce as well. I am happy to 

continue, but I don't know if you had any other questions. 

CHAIR:  Mr Packman, you wanted to say something?  

Mr Packman:  Yes. I just would like to add to Bettina's statement, in that the model that was designed, instead 

of employing all staff as delegates in the APS, divided the model, and we have LAC partner staff. That very 

model creates a mass duplication of work, because those staff can only do some front end of the planning process; 

they can't approve. So they've got interactions to send the plan up, load to the cloud and sit in the bottleneck, 

which is the workload manager system. Then the APS staff have got to download that plan; they've got to read 

through the documents and read through the evidence. They've then got to make decisions. They've got to make 

discussion if it's big changes. We estimate, or I estimate myself, actually, as a minimum—and this is through 
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talking to staff—that there would be one hour of duplication on any plan that's to be sent through that system. 

Given they're about 80 per cent of the plans and we have 460,000 participants at the moment, we've got hundreds 

of thousands of wasted hours.  

CHAIR:  Miss Vincent-Pietsch, if I recall correctly from your earlier evidence, you said there was a 26 per 

cent increase in cost versus having full-time employees? 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  In terms of cost, we don't actually know the figure because the NDIA have said it 

would take too much time to look into it, but we estimate it's between 12 and 25 per cent extra to employ labour 

hire, and that's based on some of the Senate estimates evidence that we've recently heard from other agencies. The 

other 26 per cent that I spoke about in the opening is the percentage of labour hire workers. That does not include 

the LACs, the Local Area Coordinators; that's just labour hire workers. And it's across the entire NDIA. They're 

not just using one particular area. Labour hire has become the baseline model. A significant number, a quarter of 

the workforce, is labour hire. 

CHAIR:  Just so I'm clear and the record is clear, your estimate based on evidence in Senate estimates is that 

the premium is between 12 and 25 per cent under the current arrangements. 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  That's correct. Somewhere in there. 

CHAIR:  Let's assume that's correct for the purpose of our discussion, if there is even a 12 per cent premium, 

why would the agency do that? Maybe I shouldn't be asking you this question. We'll get a chance to ask the 

agency. But why do you think this is the case? 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  I think it would be great if you could ask the agency. To date, most of our discussion 

has been about the fact that there is a hard ASL cap, an average staffing level cap, and the NDIA have reached 

that, or marginally gone over it, for most of their lifetime, but it's insufficient to do the work. They simply can't do 

the work. Even with the extra labour hire employees, they're still massively under-resourced. That ASL seems to 

be the key driver of spending this extra money on labour hire employees, but, even then, it's insufficient. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Ms Payne? 

Ms PAYNE:  Thank you to the CPSU. You've noted in your submission that the NDIA was originally 

designed to have 10,595 APS staff to properly deliver the scheme to participants—that was in 2018-19—and that 

five years since this announcement the agency remains at half that number. I'm keen to hear from you if you could 

elaborate on the impact that is having on both the staff at the NDIA and the NDIS participants. 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  That's fantastic. I wonder if maybe Ali could talk to the impact on staff, and maybe 

Michael, we could come back to you about the impact on participants. 

Ms Butcher:  Thanks for the question. I appreciate that. The current impact on staff, to be quite frank, is 

absolutely horrendous. As we said—we've submitted this evidence—we've spoken to our members quite 

extensively and quite regularly, and on top of their written submissions every section counsellor and delegate is 

having conversations if not daily then absolutely multiple times per week with staff who are in extreme crisis due 

to workloads and the stress and pressures. That's because these people take their job incredibly seriously. We are 

very clear about the people that we wish to be supporting. We want to be working somewhere that we're proud of 

our work, and our members are very much telling us they know the difference this makes in the life of a person 

with a disability and their support networks. So people on the front line are taking their job seriously. The people 

even in the enabling teams, as we talked about, and the review teams, they understand that, at the end of their 

work and that piece of paper and document set, there is a real person that has needs that need to be addressed 

based on their disability requirements, and they want to do them justice in line with our delegated responsibility, 

and we just can't do that. We actually can't invest the time. We hear these stories constantly, that people can't 

sleep, that they are taking off time because of stress and because their anxiety is so overwhelming. They're 

worried that they're going to miss that one person and the process is going to fail—because they have to push 

through to meet impossible targets and workloads. So that's the stress on the staff.  

For the participants, the information and stories I hear back is that they are frustrated. They are people who 

need direct support. They already face extreme challenges in, pretty much, every space of a very ablest 

community. We should be the very contemporary holders of views for people to build up their capacity and 

supports. We should be able to invest the time to ensure that they can access those supports and understand how 

to navigate the process and how we come to a decision—what is it that we need to find in this space so that they 

are better resourced into their future, which is about being sustainable? 

It's also about their dignity. A person with disability, and their disability support network, has the absolute right 

to go through their life and engage with the government agency in a very dignified and respectful space, and that 

requires time. This is still a very new agency in its infancy. We still need to be building that capacity across the 
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broader community, and generalised understanding. But what we hear back from participants—and we see this 

coming through from various datasets—is they want more information about how a delegate got to a decision. 

What is it that we need? What do they need to be doing? How else can they be maximising their supports, to 

make sure they are able to undertake the life that they are choosing for themselves? We are hearing that is 

absolutely not the case. 

That's absolutely where our members want to be able to invest that time, with all of their participants, making 

sure they are doing the process with fair, due diligence every time. Thank you. 

Mr Packman:  If you don't mind, I'd like to add a little bit to that around participant experience and how the 

understaffing impacts on equity within the participant experience. On 2 February this year the CEO directive was 

circulated to all staff, which identified a shift from quantity to quality objectives. Staff were directed to follow 

operational guidance and legislation, and new quality audit systems were announced. During quarter 1 2021, 

changes to operational guidance were introduced, and it required stricter justifications to include supports. Some 

of the support areas that were changed were consumable items, allied health support coordination—and this is not 

an exhaustive list.  

Interestingly, we can highlight the understaffing in a comment that was made on 28 September in a Comcare 

investigation. It was made by a senior NDIA management staffer. They reported that they were autoextending—

autoextending is the current plan repeated; 20 per cent of the plans in the Workload Manager system. Even 

though they were autoextending those plans, which is like a roboplanning process—data analysis identifies the 

plan; it's extended, no questions asked, no exploration—they had a backlog of 14,000 overdue plans at that time. 

So even with 20 per cent of that workload autoextended, now we have this backlog. All of those plans were built 

prior to the new operational guidance. When you autoextend a plan it's the same plan.  

We are not doing the appropriate scrutiny of the expenditure of public money. We are not following reasonable 

and necessary legislative requirements. The result is a major inequity for participants. If you're a new participant, 

you get the new guidance. If you're one of those participants sitting in a backlog somewhere you might be lucky, 

and if you're happy with your plan you can continue having what you've had.  

Another strategy—I want to be quick. Feros Queensland are the largest local area coordinator service in 

Queensland. They're a partner service. They are reported to be significantly understaffed due to burnout. They 

have tried to recruit. From folk who I know and the stories I've heard from different areas, they're significantly 

understaffed. As a result, there's a massive backlog in all of their plan reviews. A strategy called the 'Carers 

Queensland short-term intervention strategy' was introduced in June 2021. It was announced via email, with 

additional details verbally disseminated to staff. The plans that are submitted for renewal to the delegate cannot be 

amended. It's actually more complex to decline a plan than it is to approve one, and the pressure to approve these 

plans results in poor equity for participants. Obviously, we've got the concerns of breaches of the reasonable and 

necessary legislation, and we've got, I believe, inappropriate expenditure of public money. If we were doing a 

public interest disclosure, we've got maladministration of the scheme and we've got abuse of the delegation 

powers that are assigned to a delegate. And all of the plans, as I've stated, are exempt from the auditing processes. 

That's the impact on participants. It really is about equity and participants' plans not being scrutinised to the level 

which our legislation is designed for. 

Ms PAYNE:  Thank you for elaborating on that. We will take these issues up with the department on 

Thursday. I also want to ask about KPIs. In your submission you recommended that the scope of the current KPI 

review be increased to incorporate the views of the majority of the NDIA workforce, to approach the review with 

the aim of reducing KPI related risks to health and safety, and to take a systemic approach to mitigating risks of 

psychosocial injury to workers. That sounds incredibly serious, and it's not the first time we've heard about these 

extreme KPIs that are put on NDIA staff. I was wondering if you could give some examples of these KPIs and the 

impacts they're having on staff, and particularly on staff with disabilities, which you've also drawn attention to in 

your submission. 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  This is such a serious issue for the union, and, in fact, we've only just met this morning 

with management at Comcare in an attempt to address these serious issues. Paul, do you want to see if you can 

answer this one about the impact of KPIs and some examples of how unreasonable they are? 

Mr Wray:  Yes. I'd be glad to. To reiterate, it's a very serious issue. We've been working as a union with our 

members and with the rest of the staff for more than 18 months now, trying to get an answer to questions. The 

workloads have been increasing for each individual staff member throughout the last 18 to 24 months and 

progressively ramping up, especially over the last six months. The effect that this has had on staff has been 

devastating. I personally know the delegates here will attest to the fact that they've had members calling them in 
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tears about the amount of work they've got to do. I've had people call me saying, '[inaudible], workloads have 

increased and I've been given no [inaudible].' To have them break down in front of me has been tragic. 

This isn't just anecdotal either; it was collected in the census results. As Beth mentioned at the start, we did a 

survey. At the beginning of our survey, there was a listing of 80 or so [inaudible] members, contractors and staff, 

bleeding their hearts out about how difficult it is to do the KPIs [inaudible]. As mentioned, we're in Comcare as 

well over these workloads. Another aspect that makes this incredibly difficult on staff is that there's a level of 

almost gaslighting staff. The common thing is that staff genuinely care. They care about participants. I care about 

getting my work done and getting as much work done as possible because, at the end of the day, it means that 

there's a positive experience for a participant and for a person with a disability. That is weaponised. That guilt is 

weaponised against the staff quite often, to say, 'Well, we need to push you harder and harder for the participants; 

we need to make sure that this gets done, that you stay back and get things done for the participants.' That's 

culminated in reports of people using alcohol and drugs to try and cope with the workloads. I know of whole 

business areas that have just up and left. The entire business area just quit, essentially. It's a bit of a hyperbole, but 

the point remains that people aren't just struggling at this point; they're breaking. 

The CPSU is incredibly concerned. Not to put too fine a point on things, but we've raised this point numerous 

times. We've begged the NDIA numerous times to work with us to fix this. I don't like bringing people up who 

can't be in the room to say that I'm wrong, but I personally feel that the NDIA has done minimal to try and work 

with us to resolve this issue and the issue I've just put forth to you. 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  I might add to your question about employment for people with a disability. We have 

also been raising concerns on this issue for some time. The agency draws a large number of people who either 

have a disability or care for somebody with a disability and are passionate about the scheme. That's quite a 

common scenario. But we have heard from so many members that they don't make reasonable adjustments to the 

KPIs to account for their disability. And where they need to use assistive technology in particular, they're not 

getting that extra time factored in that is needed in terms of their KPIs. So staff with a disability are coming to us 

in big numbers, talking about the fact that the workload is not only unmanageable for everyone, it's particularly 

unmanageable for people with a disability. 

Ms PAYNE:  Do you have a quantitative sense of the numbers of staff leaving because of the pressure put on 

them by these KPIs and burnout, essentially? 

Mr Wray:  It's difficult to quantify it. There are a number of reasons. I don't believe the NDIA do an overly 

excellent job of exit interviews and tracking data. We can only track it to some extent. We have limited capacity 

to track it once staff have gone. I would say that somewhere between 70 and 80 per cent of the people I know 

who've left the agency left because of workloads. I would struggle to find a single person in the agency at a 

frontline level who isn't actively thinking to themselves and looking around the sector or the APS for a position—

essentially, their mental health is being ground down in order to meet the participant service guarantee. 

Ms PAYNE:  Coming to labour hire. You've drawn attention to the high proportion of labour hire at the NDIA. 

Could you elaborate on the impact of that on both the permanent APS staff and the labour hire staff? 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  I think Bettina would be best placed to answer this, given that she has been both labour 

hire and, now, an ongoing APS employee. 

Ms Prescott:  Yes. That's a very good question. I can even provide a personal example of where I was team 

leading for a team of labour hire staff. Early last year there was a significant impact to my team's KPIs. They went 

from four per week to 10 per week, and the requirements of the work didn't provide the relevant support that it 

should have. It also raised similar concerns to the concerns raised by Mr Packman earlier, including whether these 

cases were being looked at as thoroughly as they should have been, especially in the circumstances of a review 

context. Those were some of the concerns that the staff raised with the technical, or at least the procedural, 

supports that were put in place to meet this new target.  

The impact was substantial. I think I had about eight people in my team before I left that role in March last 

year. Within about a month of me leaving there were eight people, and there were, I think, three left over after a 

month or two. Like I said, they were labour hire. We were at the beginning of the pandemic, and the majority of 

them left without a job—I'm pretty sure only one of them had a job to go to. That's saying a lot when you've 

already got insecure employment—you have a one-hour notice period—but you choose to leave. That's despite 

getting the 20 to 25 per cent extra on top of their pay because they are labour hire, and despite the face of the 

pandemic. It had a huge impact on them. One of our first surveys on workplace health and safety was with that 

group who were subjected to these new KPIs, and they reported things like sleeping pills, alcohol, having 

nightmares—just so much distress.  
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For me, even though I was an ongoing APS employee, my job was to support them. Although I provided them 

with as much support as I could, and I did, there's only so much that you can do. I can't change the KPIs, my 

manager couldn't change the KPIs, and I'm sure not even their managers could change the KPIs. That impacted 

me significantly as well. I know that it impacted my colleagues, and it really does a thing to the culture. You want 

to be there and provide the support, especially when the role of that branch or that work in reviews was essentially 

to try and rebuild that bond between the agency and the participant, because they're not happy with an outcome, 

they're not happy with their plan. The idea should be that we try and recover that and try and work through that 

and show that we're willing to listen and willing to take consideration to all of the concerns that they raised, but 

they didn't have enough time. Even one of my highest achievers, who had worked in the industry—she was 

excellent; she was really good with participants—struggled. Sometimes she did meet that new KPI—a lot of the 

time I think she did—but it was very difficult for her, and I think that says a lot. That's my experience. 

Ms PAYNE:  Thank you very much for sharing that and for your time today. I'll leave my questions there. 

CHAIR:  Senator Brown, do you have any questions? 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Yes, Chair, just a few. There's a significant issue around workloads and the 

casualisation of the workforce, and these are issues that have been ongoing for a number of years now. With all 

the work that you have been doing to highlight the issues and the petitions, what does the NDIA say to you? Ms 

Butcher, are you able to help me out here? 

Ms Butcher:  Every single CPSU section counsellor, every delegate, every HSR and every worker attends 

daily meetings, monthly meetings and quarterly meetings. At every single one of these forums, workloads, stress 

issues, outcomes, the risk to staff and the risk to participants are raised. The agency response—to be clear, the 

way that I read this—is to say that it is actually an individual person's fault. The messaging indicates that we're 

not seeing any reduction, we're not seeing adjustment made; when, potentially, a specific work area maybe only 

has 50 per cent of their intended staffing allocation, we're not seeing a reduction in the expected output of 50 per 

cent. To be clear, a lot of the team members are clear that their direct line managers are providing the support that 

they can, or they are trying to, but it's a trickle-down pressure cooker. There's a very big foot at the top, and that 

just keeps stamping down. Eventually, people are going to slip out the side of that foot. I know that the agency 

has put some measures in place around different actions for longer-term intended outcomes, but they're about 

meeting, at this stage, what I can only see, on the numbers, as identified unreachable targets. Why would you 

intentionally set up somewhere to fail? 

As Beth identified in her original opening statement, the agency had some numbers that were projected. What 

we've also seen come out is that more participants, more individuals, have been able to access the scheme than 

originally thought and that participants are staying longer in the scheme than originally thought. Those two 

influencing factors would indicate that we also need more staff to address those participants' needs in the longer 

term. Yet, again, we've got a set number—I'm not quite sure where it was plucked from, but it doesn't seem to 

make any logical sense based on any evidence or data that we've been able to gather or even the agency's own 

information. As to the agency's response at this point in time, it would not be unreasonable to say that I feel and 

our members feel that it is subpar and suboptimal for workforce outcomes and for participant outcomes. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  With the introduction of the service guarantee, I'm assuming that your workload 

would have gone up? Is that correct? 

Ms Butcher:  Yes, in effect. So the Participant Service Guarantee indicates some very clear-cut time frames 

around when a participant should be having a known answer about certain componentry, depending on what 

process they're in. And that is absolutely reasonable. People should be able to understand and expect a time frame 

for when something is going to occur. That would be a standard business procedure that we would expect in all 

layers of government, business and industry. But the challenge that we have is that we don't actually have enough 

staff to look at that issue, read the relevant information and go back and talk to the participant, because it can be 

quite a challenging process to navigate. They might have lost a report that is actually quite important. So you need 

some time to work through that with the participant and their support network. 

Keep in mind that these are people with people with a disability. Not every single person with a disability has a 

good informal support network to help them navigate this. Not everybody has a good decision-maker available to 

them quite rapidly. These things take time. And we should be able to invest the time to make sure that that 

participant is getting the best outcome and that they feel absolutely respected and they understand the process that 

they have just gone with. It should be a collaborative approach. One of the outcomes of the Participant Service 

Guarantee—one of the values underpinning it—is about transparency and feeling connected. That feeling of 

connection comes when they have time to talk to the person making the decisions so that they understand the 

process. And we don't have that time because we don't have the staff to do the time; it's that simple. 
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CHAIR:  I think someone else wanted to add a comment, but I can't see from here who it is. 

Mr Packman:  It was me. In a nutshell, this Participant Service Guarantee is about quality, but the severe 

understaffing across every facet of the agency has drawn the participant guarantee to being about meeting time 

frames. It's how we do that, as I mentioned before, in the current design of all our extending plans. It's a great 

concept, and it's a great future concept, but before we accept a plan to be a rolling plan we should have the 

appropriate scrutiny that quality is undertaken; that the plan meets all of the reasonable and necessary guidance; 

and that the plan is equitable when compared against similar participants in our society. That's so we have a good 

scheme. 

The Participant Service Guarantee and the understaffing have just resulted in what we would clearly see as 

corner cutting. We have processes that are designed to be implemented when we have a fully functional and well-

oiled machine running. But whilst we have a system full of bottlenecks, backlogs and pressures, and planning that 

is unable to be done at an optimal level due to short staffing in our AOC area and within our APF system, then we 

have a service guarantee that is basically all about meeting time frames. In a way, it's like a minilab which says, 

'We can process your photos in one hour.' That's good if one person drops a film in, but if they have to do a 

hundred of them they're just going to pump them through the machine, pack them all up and send them out. 

Unfortunately, we have an NDIS that's dealing with participants' lives like it's delivering packages or, basically, 

an outcome. It's not the NDIA that I signed up for, it's not the NDIA that's sustainable and it's not the fair NDIA 

that we all wanted. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Did the CPSU get consulted in terms of the workplace plan that was presented 

recently by the minister? 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  David, unless you're going to say otherwise, I would say no, we were not consulted. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Is that usual with such a valuable and important piece of work being undertaken? 

Is the CPSU often excluded from consultation? 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  Unfortunately, yes—sometimes. And it's with some agencies more than others. We do 

think that it would have been so much better to have had the voice of the workers themselves being consulted and 

having a look at that workforce plan, and giving input into it before it was finalised. We think that involving the 

workers would have had a better outcome. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  I'm not sure whether you've had an opportunity to actually have a look at it; there 

are 16 initiatives. If you have, I'd be very happy to hear your views, but if you haven't then I'm loath to give you 

more work, because I know you're very busy. But if you could have a look at it and give us your view on it, that 

would be appreciated. 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  Thank you. Can I take that on notice, please, to give you something comprehensive as a 

result? 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Absolutely. I apologise if you've answered this question—my phone has been 

going in and out: what happens if people, if workers, don't meet their KPIs consistently? 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  Bettina, did you want to take that up? 

Ms Prescott:  If they don't meet their KPIs consistently then they're subject to performance management. 

Depending on whether they are somehow equal to meeting those expectations or not may mean that they're no 

longer employed. Of course, if they are APS staff, there is a longer process. I know that the agency has put 

together a policy of sorts for labour hire workers and managing performance. Although there is a process, they're 

not anywhere near as protected as APS staff. I have seen people over time no longer have a job as a result, and 

that does include labour hire. I think most of them that I've seen are labour hire. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  How regularly does the NDIA review KPIs? 

Ms Prescott:  I think it's a bit of a loaded question. That would be on the basis that they are consistent KPIs or 

that they are reviewed in a systemic way. They are not, from our observations. At the moment, for example, for a 

very large group that spans many different locations across the country—that is, planners—the KPIs have not 

been consistent within states or across states, and the KPIs are regularly changing. In that example, in my 

experience where it went from four to 10, thankfully that was actually an example of something that was 

consistent across multiple groups. However, my understanding is that since then the KPIs aren't as clear, and that 

is certainly the case for planners where they change sometimes week by week and site by site. I believe that Mr 

Packman has some pretty good anecdotal evidence to share with that. 

Mr Packman:  Thanks, Bettina. We recently attended a meeting with NDIA senior management to discuss a 

request that we made as a CPSU body for a reduction of workloads to support better psychological health of staff 
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all across the agency—frontline planning, every facet of the agency. We had that meeting and at no time during 

the meeting was there any announcements of any increases in any areas. Let's be clear, we were there to discuss 

work health and safety. The following Monday, many sites across Queensland, but not all I'm told—I don't know 

whether it was a site-by-site decision. It was described as a stretch target by an SES staff member, but there was a 

51 per cent increase in the workload management target for the teams that I'm associated with. Whilst teams 

might be beating those targets, they're doing it under great duress. They might be doing it in a timely way, but 

they're reporting processing issues, complexity in the planning and dirty data. So KPIs can be adjusted as the need 

requires, and this one, we have identified, was adjusted because of the significant backlog. 

Our synopsis is that KPIs, which they now state are not so much a number per planner but more about the 

Participant Service Guarantee—but it is clear there are expectations of per site, per team, and it does appear to be 

the number of planners, bums on seats, divided into the total number of participant plans that are required at that 

certain time and there's a KPI! If you're unfortunate enough to live in an LGA with a high participant percentage 

and a small staffing percentage, your KPIs are very high compared to another LGAs. It's very unfair. It doesn't 

talk to quality planning. It doesn't talk to participant experience, and the one thing that stands out: it certainly 

doesn't support staff health and wellbeing. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  So regardless of feedback from the workers, and the petitions—and, I'm assured, 

multiple representations by the CPSU—the KPIs are instituted top down, with no extra support put in where there 

is significant change. 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  That's correct. We are currently in discussions, as we've said, around this very issue of 

KPIs and dispute with the agency around those. We're ever hopeful that we're going to get a shift in the space but 

at the moment it's very much top down. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  When you say 'in dispute', does that mean you're having discussions in house or 

is it in a commission situation? 

Mrs Vincent-Pietsch:  Both, actually. We have both pursued an outcome through Comcare. We have been 

hopeful that we can get an outcome, although we feel that it needs immediate action. Comcare have advised that 

the process will be slow. At the same time, we've lodged a dispute and let the NDIA know that we want to make 

real, genuine use of the clause that exists within the agreement to have workload reviews. There's a clause in the 

agreement that says workloads should be reviewed, and they've never properly come to the party on that. We're 

going to take any available avenue we can grab to get an outcome for this. We think it's the most significant issue 

for our members. 

Senator CAROL BROWN:  Thank you so much for your evidence today. The committee would really 

appreciate it if you had an opportunity to look at the workplace plan. That would help us greatly. 

CHAIR:  I thank you for your submission and for coming along and discussing it with us today. We appreciate 

that very much. On behalf of the committee, I thank everybody who's contributed to these hearings today. If 

there's supplementary material that any of the witnesses today wish to forward to the committee, they can do so 

through the committee's email address, and we'd appreciate responses by 5 November, if possible. On that note, I 

thank my colleagues on the committee, the secretariat, Hansard and parliamentary reporting. This committee will 

adjourn until 9 am on Thursday. Thank you all. 

Committee adjourned at 16:47 
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